MECHANISM OF RING FINGER PROTEIN 43 (RNF43) IN

CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA

Norma Sainstika Pangestu



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Biochemistry and Biochemical Technology Suranaree University of Technology

Academic Year 2020

กลไกการทำงานของริงค์ฟิงเกอร์โปรตีน 43 (RNF43) ในมะเร็งท่อน้ำดี



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีวเคมีและเทคโนโลยีชีวเคมี มหาวิทยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรนารี ปีการศึกษา 2563

MECHANISM OF RING FINGER PROTEIN 43 (RNF43) IN CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA . S. .

Suranaree University of Technology has approved this thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master's Degree.

Thesis Examining committee

(Prof. Dr. James R. Ketudat-Cairns)

Chairperson

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Chutima Talabnin)

Member (Thesis Advisor)

Gr. Eunkel. (Prof. Dr. Griangsak Eumkeb)

Member

รัฐารักยาลัยเทคโบโลยีสรี (Asso (Assoc. Prof. Dr. Jaruwan Siritapetawe)

Member

Kultuida V, Chan

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kulthida Vaeteewoottacharn)

Sistation

Member

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Panida Khunkaewla)

Member

Chatchai Jothila

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Chatchai Jothityangkoon)

(Prof. Dr. Santi Maensiri)

Vice Rector for Academic Affairs

Dean of Institute of Science

and Quality Assurance

นอร์ม่า เซนสติกา ปางเจสตู : กลไกการทำงานของริงค์ฟังเกอร์โปรตีน 43 (RNF43) ใน มะเร็งท่อน้ำดี (MECHANISM OF RING FINGER PROTEIN 43 (RNF43) IN CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA) อาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา : ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ คร.ชุติมา ตลับนิล, 88 หน้า.

กระบวนการกระตุ้นที่ผิดปกติของวิถีวิงค์เบต้าแคดที่นิน (Wnt/β-catenin) นำมาซึ่งการ เจริญพัฒนาของมะเร็งหลากหลายชนิดรวมไปถึงมะเร็งท่อน้ำดี มะเร็งท่อน้ำดีเป็นมะเร็งที่มีความ ผิดปกติในกระบวนการส่งสัญญาณของวิถีวิงค์เบต้าแคดที่นินค่อนข้างมาก โดยมักเกิดจากยืนในวิถี นี้มีการกลายพันธุ์หรือมีการแสดงออกสูงเพิ่มขึ้น ซึ่งความผิดปกติทั้งสองลักษณะนี้พบมี ้ความสัมพันธ์กับการเจริญเติบโตและการรุกรานของมะเร็งที่เพิ่มขึ้น ริงค์ฟิงเกอร์โปรตีน (RNF43) เป็นเอนไซม์ที่ทำหน้าที่ในการนำยูบิควิติน (ubiquitin) มาจับกับโปรตีนเป้าหมายเพื่อยับยั้ง การเกิดกระบวนการของวิถีวิงค์เบต้าแคดทีนิน การกลายพันธุ์ของยืนริงค์ฟังเกอร์ โปรตีน 43 สามารถพบได้ในผู้ป่วยมะเร็งท่อน้ำดีส่วนใหญ่ และการแสดงของยืนริงค์ฟิงเกอร์โปรตีน 43 ที่ ลดลงมีความสัมพันธ์กับอัตราการรอดชีวิตที่ลดลงด้วย จากข้อมูลดังกล่าวในการศึกษานี้ผู้วิจัยมี เป้าหมายในการศึกษาผลกระทบในด้านการยับยั้งของยืนริงค์ฟิงเกอร์โปรตีน 43 เมื่อมีการ แสดงออกที่เพิ่มมากขึ้นกับกระบวนการส่งสัญญาณวิถีวิงค์เบต้าแคดทีนิน โดยเซลล์เพาะเลี้ยงมะเร็ง ท่อน้ำดีจากผู้ป่วยมะเร็งท่อน้ำดีคือเซลล์ KKU-213B ถูกนำมาใช้ในการศึกษาครั้งนี้ โดยเซลล์ถูกชัก นำให้เกิดการแสดงออกของยืนริงค์ฟิงเกอร์ โปรตีน 43 ในปริมาณมากด้วยการใช้ดีเอ็นเอพาหะที่ เรียกว่า pCM6-RNF43 construct vector ก่อนและเซลล์ที่มีการแสดงออกของยืนริงค์ฟิงเกอร์โปรตีน 43 ในปริมาณมากขึ้นนี้ถูกนำมาทดสอบต่อด้วยการวิเคราะห์การเจริญเติบโตของเซลล์ การเคลื่อนที่ ของเซลล์ การตอบสนองต่อยา และการแสดงออกของยืนเป้าหมายที่ถูกความคุมด้วยวิถีวิงค์เบต้า แคดที่นิน ผลการศึกษาผู้วิจัยแสดงให้เห็นว่าโปรตีนเบต้าแคดที่นิน (β-catenin) ถูกสะสมอยู่ที่ไซ โตรพลาสซึมของเซลล์เมื่อมีการแสดงออกที่เพิ่มขึ้นของยืนริงค์ฟิงเกอร์ โปรตีน 43 จากผลการศึกษา นี้บ่งชี้ให้เห็นว่าเกิดการยับยั้งวิถีวิงค์เบต้าแคดทีนิน และผลการศึกษานี้ถูกสนับสนุนด้วยการพบการ แสดงออกที่ลดลงของกลุ่มยืนเป้าหมายที่ถูกความคุมด้วยวิถีวิงค์เบต้าแคดทีนิน (AXIN2, BIRC5, CCND1, MMP7, ABCB1) ขณะที่การวิเคราะห์การเจริญเติบโตของเซลล์พบว่าการแสดงออกที่ เพิ่มขึ้นของยืนริงค์ฟิงเกอร์ โปรตีน 43 มีผลยับยั้งการเจริญเติบ โตของเซลล์มะเร็งท่อน้ำดีได้ ณ เวลา 48 และ 72 ชั่วโมง การเคลื่อนที่ของเซลล์มะเร็งที่ลดลงก็ถูกพบเมื่อมีการแสดงออกของยืนเพิ่มขึ้น ริงค์ฟิงเกอร์โปรตีน 43 เช่นกัน มากไปกว่านั้นยังพบว่ามีการตอบสนองต่อยาเคมีบำบัดที่เพิ่มขึ้นอีก ด้วย ดังนั้นจากผลการศึกษาในครั้งนี้แสดงให้เห็นว่ายืนริงค์ฟิงเกอร์ โปรตีน 43 มีบทบาทสำคัญใน

การยับยั้งการพัฒนาของมะเร็งท่อน้ำดีผ่านการยับยั้งกระบวนการส่งสัญญาณในวิถี วิงค์ เบต้าแคดที นิน

II

1 281

.



สาขาวิชาเคมี ปีการศึกษา 2563

4

Server.

ลายมือชื่อนักศึกษา ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา

NORMA SAINSTIKA PANGESTU : MECHANISM OF RING FINGER PROTEIN 43 (RNF43) IN CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA. THESIS ADVISOR : CHUTIMA TALABNIN, Ph.D. 88 PP.

*

MECHANISM OF RING FINGER PROTEIN 43 (RNF43) IN CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA

Aberrant activation of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway is a step in the progression of various cancer. Earlier studies have reported cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) is a Wnt high tumor, and various genes involved in the progression of this cancer are upregulated. RING finger protein 43 (RNF43) is a ubiquitin E3 ligase which negatively regulates Wnt/ β -catenin signaling. Interestingly, an inactivating mutation of RNF43 was found in a majority of CCA patients and low expression of RNF43 was

closely related to a lower CCA patient survival rate. In this study, we studied the inhibition effect by which RNF43 overexpression suppresses Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway. Human CCA cell line KKU-213B was used as a model and RNF43 transfection was carried out with the pCM6-*RNF43* expression vector using Lipofectamine 3000. Phenotypic alterations, such as cell proliferation, cell migration and the sensitivity of the chemotherapeutic drugs responses, were examined following RNF43 overexpression. Additionally, quantitative PCR was used to determine Wnt/ β -catenin target genes changes. Here, we observed that β -catenin was accumulated in the cytoplasmic fraction after RNF43 overexpression, indicating successful Wnt/ β -catenin inhibition. Cell viability was significantly diminished after 48 and 72 h of proliferation. Cell migration as determined by wound healing and transwell cell migration assay was also obviously decreased. Additionally, 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) chemotherapeutic drug

response was increased following RNF43 overexpression. Downregulation of numerous Wnt/ β -catenin target genes, including *AXIN2*, *BIRC5*, *CCND1*, *MMP7*, and *ABCB1* upon *RNF43* overexpression was further support for *RNF43* inhibition of this pathway. Our findings provide evidence for the important role of RNF43 in suppressing tumor progression via Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway cascade.



School of Chemistry Academic Year 2020

*

arter

Student's signature Advisor's signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, praises and thanks to the God, the Almighty, for His showers of blessings throughout my research work to complete my master's degree in Biochemistry. I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my thesis advisor Asst. Prof. Dr. Chutima Talabnin for giving me the opportunity to do my research and master study while providing me invaluable guidance and support. She has taught me various techniques and explored many ideas to carry out the research. Her dynamism, vision sincerity and motivation have deeply inspired me. I am extremely grateful for what she has offered me.

I would also like to thank my thesis committee, Prof. Dr. Griangsak Eumkeb, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Jaruwan Siritapetawee, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kulthida Vaeteewoottacharn, and Asst. Prof. Dr. Panida Khunkaewla for their encouragement and insightful feedback and valuable suggestion. My deepest gratitude and appreciation expressed to all the lecturers, Professor Dr. James Ketudat Cairns, Dr. Sakesit Chumnarnsilpa for passing on to me their biochemistry knowledge and biochemical lab techniques, which were later found to be useful for my project development. I would like to express my sincere thanks to the specimen bank; Liver Fluke and Cholangiocarcinoma Research Center, Faculty of Medicine, Khon Kaen University, for providing the specimens and clinical data in this study. I would like to acknowledge the Vithedbandit scholarship for financial support and to express my gratitude to the Biochemistry Laboratory Unit and Molecular Pathology Research Unit, Suranaree University of Technology for providing the equipment and lab facilities. Gratefulness is expressed to all my fellow lab mates in the Biochemistry Laboratory Unit and Molecular Pathology Research Unit, for helping me to get through the difficult times, and for all the emotional support, friendship, and entertainment. Finally, I am indebted to my parents and my family for their constant love, support and understanding right up to my eventual graduation.



CONTENTS

Page
ABSTRACT IN THAI I
ABSTRACT IN ENGLISH III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSV
CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF ABBREVIATION.
CHAPTER F
I INTRODUCTION
1.1 Significance of Research1
1.2 Literature Review
1.2.1 Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA)
1.2.2 Epidemiology and risk factor of CCA4
1.2.3 Wnt signaling
1.2.4 Wnt signaling pathway in cancer
1.2.5 RING finger protein 43 (RNF43) in normal cell19
1.2.6 RNF43 in Cancer
1.2.7 RNF43 in CCA
1.3Thesis Objectives33
II MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Materials

CONTENTS (Continued)

VIII

	2.1.1 Human cholangiocarcinoma cell lines	34
	2.1.2 Chemicals, oligonucleotide primers and antibodies	34
	2.1.2.1 Chemical	37
	2.1.2.2 Oligonucleotide primers	38
	2.1.2.3 Antibodies	39
	2.1.3 RNF43-DDK-Myc expression vector	37
2.2	Methods	38
	2.2.1 RNF43 overexpression	38
	2.2.2 Cell proliferation and drug treatment	39
	2.2.3 Colony formation assay	40
	2.2.4 Wound healing assay	40
	2.2.5 Transwell cell migration assay	41
	2.2.6 Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR)	41
	2.2.7 Protein collection	42
	2.2.8 SDS-PAGE and Western blotting	43
	2.2.9 Statistical analysis	43
RESUI	LT	45
3.1	Basal RNF43 expression and RNF43 overexpression in CCA	45
3.2	Downregulation of various Wnt target genes	48
3.3	<i>RNF43</i> overexpression reduces CCA cell proliferation	51
3.4	RNF43 overexpression enhances 5-fluorouracil sensitivity	53
3.5	<i>RNF43</i> overexpression delays CCA cell migration	60
	2.2 RESUI 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	2.1.1 Human cholangiocarcinoma cell lines 2.1.2 Chemicals, oligonucleotide primers and antibodies 2.1.2.1 Chemical 2.1.2.2 Oligonucleotide primers 2.1.2.2 Oligonucleotide primers 2.1.2.3 Antibodies 2.1.2.4 Methods 2.1.2 Methods 2.2.1 RNF43-DDK-Myc expression vector 2.2 Methods 2.2.1 RNF43 overexpression 2.2.2 Cell proliferation and drug treatment 2.2.3 Colony formation assay 2.2.4 Wound healing assay 2.2.5 Transwell cell migration assay 2.2.6 Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) 2.2.7 Protein collection 2.2.8 SDS-PAGE and Western blotting 2.2.9 Statistical analysis RESULT 3.1 3.1 Basal <i>RNF43</i> expression and RNF43 overexpression in CCA 3.2 Downregulation of various Wnt target genes 3.3 <i>RNF43</i> overexpression reduces CCA cell proliferation 3.4 RNF43 overexpression enhances 5-fluorouracil sensitivity 3.5 <i>RNF43</i> ov

CONTENTS (Continued)

IX

IV	DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSSION	65
REF	ERENCES	73
CURI	RICULLUM VITAE	86



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.1	Schematic representation of Cholangiocarcinoma types	3
1.2	Geographical distribution of CCA in Thailand	7
1.3	Life cycle of Opisthoric <mark>s</mark> vivverrini	9
1.4	Overview of destruction complex	13
1.5	Schematic illustration Wnt signaling pathway	15
1.6	mRNA expression of WNT target genes	19
1.7	Schematic overview of RNF43	21
1.8	Formation of <mark>ub</mark> iquitin chain	21
1.9	Diagram represent RNF43 and Fzd interaction	23
1.10	Model of RNF43-regulated p53 cell cycling pathway	24
1.11	RNF43 regulates canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling	25
1.12	Immunohistochemical analysis of RNF43 in gastric carcinoma	27
1.13	Kaplan-Meier analysis of gastric carcinoma cancer	29
1.14	Overall survival CCA patients with RNF43 protein expression	32
1.15	RNF43 polymorphism	33
3.1	Basal RNF43 expression in various CCA cell lines	46
3.2	RNF43 overexpression	47
3.3	Localization of various Wnt/ β-catenin key proteins	49
3.4	Ratio of nuclear/cytoplasmic β-catenin (N/C)	50
3.5	Downregulation of various Wnt target genes	50
3.6	RNF43 overexpression supressed cell proliferation	51

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure	Page
3.7	Downregulation of Wnt/ β -catenin and proliferative marker genes51
3.8	Gemcitabine and Cisplatin chemotherapeutic resistance55
3.9	RNF43 overexpression increased 5-FU drug responses
3.10	Colony formation assay in KKU-213B cell
3.11	mRNA expression level of Wnt/β-catenin signaling
3.12	Western blot analysis of various apoptotic marker proteins
3.13	Wound healing assay
3.14	Transwell cell migration assay
3.15	mRNA expression level of various cell metastasis marker genes 64
4.1	Graphical summary of Wnt/β-catenin inhibition72



LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	CCA incidence in various countries	6
1.2	Risk factor of cholangiocarcinoma)	8
1.3	RNF43 mutations and frequencies in various cancers	26
1.4	Mutated gene found in <i>O. viverrini</i> – related CCA.	
2.1	Chemical list	35
2.2	Oligonucleotide p <mark>rim</mark> er list	36
2.3	Antibody list.	37



LIST OF ABBREVIATION

5-FU	5-Fluorouracil
ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ABC-B1	ATP-binding cassette sub-family B member 1
ABC-C1	ATP binding cassette subfamily C Member 1
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AXIN2	Axis inhibition protein 2
BAX	BCL2 Associated X, apoptosis regulator
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BCL2	B-cell lymphoma-2
BIRC5	Baculoviral inhibitor of apoptosis repeat-containing 5
CCA	Cholangiocarcinoma
CCND1	Cyclin D1
CDH1	Cadherin-1/E-cadherin
CDH2	Cadherin-2/ N-cadherin
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CK1a	Casein kinase 1a
c-MYC	Cellular- Myelocytomatosis
CRD	Cysteine-rich domain
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Pag
1.1	Schematic representation of Cholangiocarcinoma types
1.2	Geographical distribution of CCA in Thailand
1.3	Life cycle of Opisthoric <mark>s v</mark> ivverrini
1.4	Overview of destruction complex1
1.5	Schematic illustration Wnt signaling pathway1
1.6	mRNA expression of WNT target genes19
1.7	Schematic overview of RNF432
1.8	Formation of ubiquitin chain2
1.9	Diagram represent RNF43 and Fzd interaction2
1.10	Model of RNF43-regulated p53 cell cycling pathway24
1.11	RNF43 regulates canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling2
1.12	Immunohistochemical analysis of RNF43 in gastric carcinoma2
1.13	Kaplan-Meier analysis of gastric carcinoma cancer
1.14	Overall survival CCA patients with RNF43 protein expression32
1.15	RNF43 polymorphism
3.1	Basal RNF43 expression in various CCA cell lines4
3.2	RNF43 overexpression4
3.3	Localization of various Wnt/β-catenin key proteins
3.4	Ratio of nuclear/cytoplasmic β-catenin (N/C)50
3.5	Downregulation of various Wnt target genes50
3.6	RNF43 overexpression supressed cell proliferation5

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure	Page
3.7	Downregulation of Wnt/ β -catenin and proliferative marker genes51
3.8	Gemcitabine and Cisplatin chemotherapeutic resistance55
3.9	RNF43 overexpression increased 5-FU drug responses
3.10	Colony formation assay in KKU-213B cell
3.11	mRNA expression level of Wnt/β-catenin signaling
3.12	Western blot analysis of various apoptotic marker proteins
3.13	Wound healing assay
3.14	Transwell cell migration assay63
3.15	mRNA expression level of various cell metastasis marker genes 64
4.1	Graphical summary of Wnt/β-catenin inhibition72



LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	CCA incidence in various countries	6
1.2	Risk factor of cholangiocarcinoma)	8
1.3	RNF43 mutations and frequencies in various cancers	26
1.4	Mutated gene found in <i>O. viverrini</i> – related CCA.	
2.1	Chemical list	35
2.2	Oligonucleotide p <mark>rim</mark> er list	36
2.3	Antibody list.	37



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Significance of Research

Epithelial cell malignancy that arises from the biliary tree is commonly known as cholangiocarcinoma (CCA), and is classified into three major sub-groups, including intrahepatic, perihilar and distal (Razumilava and Gores, 2014a; Bertuccio et al., 2019). There are significant variances of CCA incidence based on the geographical area, due to the various risk factors (Pratap, Raza, and Pratap 2018). Although there were significant discrepancies in some regions, in the past few decades, the overall average morbidity and mortality of ACC has increased (Banales et al., 2020; Bertuccio et al., 2019; Bergquist and Von Seth, 2015).

Undetectable CCA and the absence of specific symptoms contribute to poor prognosis, consequently, there is a parallel prevalence and mortality rates (Banales et al., 2020; Pratap, Raza, and Pratap, 2018). Curative surgery is commonly used to treat CCA patients, but is limited to the early stage (Patel, 2011; Razumilava and Gores, 2014a; Martinez-Becerra et al., 2012). On the other hand, early diagnostic in CCA patients remains painful, therefore, the majority of the patients are diagnosed with advanced stages of CCA, at which point it is impossible to undergo surgical restorative treatment (Patel, 2011; Banales et al., 2020). Gemcitabine, cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) are the chemotherapy regiments commonly used to treat unresectable patients (Chong and Zhu, 2016; Yao, Kunam, and Li, 2014). However, unresectable therapies are related to poor outcome (Razumilava and Gores, 2014a; Simile et al., 2019). According to previous studies based on whole exome sequencing, 206 somatic mutations were found in 187 genes from patients with CCA related to *Opisthorchis viverrini* (Ong et al., 2012). At least 15 genes were found to be highly mutated, including newly implicated genes, such as *MLL3*, *ROBO2*, *RNF43* and *PEG3*. *RNF43* is one of the genes that is directly involved in Wnt signaling activity and is reported to be mutated as much as 9.3% in *Opisthorchis viverrini*–related CCA patients. Interestingly, according to the finding by Boulter et al. (2015), CCA is a Wnt high tumor, in which many of Wnt signaling related genes were reported to be mutated.

The Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway is negatively regulated by a ring finger E3 ligase, RNF43 (Tsukiyama et al., 2015). RNF43 is reported to be able to inhibit the progression of a variety of cancers, such as gastric carcinoma (Niu et al., 2015; Gao et al., 2017), pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Jiang et al., 2013), and ovarian cancer (Nguyen et al., 2019). Additionally, based on the previous study by Talabnin et al., (2016), both the mRNA and protein expression levels of RNF43 in most CCA tissues were downregulated. Interestingly, low mRNA expression of RNF43 and undetectable RNF43 protein were highly correlated with lower patient survival rates. This finding indicates the importance of RNF43 to supress the progression of cancers (Niu et al., 2015; Talabnin et al., 2016). Therefore, we suspect RNF43 is important in maintaining cell physiological and plays a significant role to supress tumor progression.

In this study, in order to understand the functional role and mechanism of the RNF43 in CCA, overexpression of the RNF43 was performed in CCA cell lines. The phenotypical changes upon RNF43 overexpression were observed, including cell proliferation, cell metastasis and the sensitivity of the cells to chemotherapeutic drugs.

1.2 Literature Review

1.2.1 Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA)

Cholangiocarcinoma is a neoplasm that emerges from the epithelial cells of the biliary tree within or below the hilum. Based on anatomical of origin, CCA is further grouped into three major group; intrahepatic CCA (iCCA), perihilar CCA (pCCA) and distal CCA (dCCA) (Razumilava and Gores, 2014a; Bertuccio et al., 2019; Khan, Tavolari, and Brandi, 2019). iCCA found within the liver which located proximally to the second-degree bile duct, whereas the cystic duct is the anatomical distinction between pCCA and dCCA. (Figure 1.1) (Bergquist and Von Seth, 2015; Khan et al., 2019; Razumilava and Gores, 2014).



Figure 1.1 Schematic representation of Cholangiocarcinoma types based on their localization. CCA is classified as intrahepatic, perihilar or extrahepatic, according to its position relative to the bifurcation of the hepatic ducts (Zabron, Edwards, and Khan, 2013).

Undetectable CCA and the absence of specific symptoms contribute to poor prognosis, consequently, there is a parallel prevalence and mortality rates (Banales et al., 2020; Pratap, Raza, and Pratap, 2018). Curative surgery is commonly used to treat CCA patient but limited to the early stage (Patel 2011; Razumilava and Gores, 2014b; Martinez-Becerra et al., 2012). On the other hand, early diagnostic in CCA patients remains painful, therefore, the majority of the patients are diagnosed with the advance stage of CCA which often impossible to undergo surgical restorative treatment (Patel, 2011; Banales et al., 2020). Gemcitabine, cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) are the chemotherapy regiments commonly used to treat unresectable patients (Chong and Zhu, 2016; Yao et al., 2014). However, unresectable therapies are related to poor outcomes Therefore, CCA patients are remain unable to receive proper surgical treatment and not well enough to expose to the chemotherapy and radiation therapy (Patel, 2011; Razumilava and Gores 2014a; Marin et al., 2018; Simile et al., 2019).

1.2.2 Epidemiology and risk factor of CCA

According to reports, in the global scale, CCA accounts for 10-15% of all primary liver cancers and 3% of gastrointestinal cancers in humans, and it is the second most common type of cancer after hepatocellular carcinoma. (HCC) (Banales et al., 2020; Bergquist and Von Seth, 2015). The 5-year survival rate reported to be as low as 10% and this attributed to 10-12% hepatobiliary malignancies which contribute for 13% cancer-related-death globally (Bergquist and Von Seth, 2015; Rizvi and Gores, 2013). The incidence rate of CCA varies greatly depending on its geographical profile, which reflects the distribution of environmental and genetic risk factors (Bergquist and Von Seth, 2015; Kirstein and Vogel, 2016). Globally, CCA cases are varies and this delineating the differences in genetic and environmental risk factors. Although geographic variations show significant differences of bile CCA, the worldwide incidence of CCA has been rising over the few past decades. CCA is more prevalent in Asian countries than the United States and Europe (Table 1.1). Northeast Thailand has the highest incidence of CCA, with 80-90 cases per 100,000 people, whereas Costa Rica and Israel have the lowest incidence with 0.3 cases per 100,000 people (Labib, Goodchild, and Pereira, 2019; Zabron et al., 2013). Based on the geographical distribution, the highest incidence of CCA in Thailand is mainly occurring in the north (19.3%) and northeast (15.7%). This number is much higher compared to the central (3.8%) and southern region (0%) (Sripa et al., 2007) (Figure 1.2).



REGION	Age-standardized incidence
Thailand North Fast	
Thailand North and Central	14.5
Thailand South	5 7
China Shanghai	J.7 7.6
Uong Kong	7.0
Toiyyon	2.5
Talwall	4.7
South Korea, Gwangju	8.8 7.1
South Korea, Busan	/.1
Japan, Osaka	3.5
Japan, Hirosnima	3.1
Italy	3.4
Germany	3
Austria	2.7
United Kingdom	2.2
United States	1.6
Singapore	1.5
Denmark	1.3
France	1.3
Philippines	1.2
Finland	1.1
Poland	0.7
Spain Spain	0.5
Switzerland	0.5
Australia	0.4
Canada	0.4
New Zealand	0.4
Puerto Rico	0.4
Costa Rica	0.3
Israel	

Table 1.1CCA incidence in various countries.



Figure 1.2 Geographical distribution of CCA in Thailand.

CCA encompasses various group of malignancies followed by certain phenotypic and molecular signature changes. Current evidence supports the idea that CCA heterogeneity is the result of a complex interplay between the patients' genetic background and various risk factors. Several risk factors have been identified in CCA which may vary depending on the geographic region including: (1) parasitic infections; (2) primary sclerosing cholangitis; (3) cholelithiasis; (4) biliary disorder; (5) hepatitis B and C; (6) lifestyle-related etc. (Khan et al., 2019; Kirstein and Vogel, 2016). Additionally, Labib et al., summarized several other risk factors causing chronic inflammation and cholestasis (Table 1.2). The inflammation and cholestasis have been reported to be involved in a cell proliferation, genetic and epigenetic mutations and lead to cholangiocarcinogenesis (Labib et al., 2019).

Cholestatic liver diseasesPrimary Sclerosing Cholangitis (PSC)Fibropolycystic liver diseasesCongenital hepatic fibrosisCaroli diseaseCholedochal cystsBiliary stone diseaseCholecystolithiasisHepatolithiasisCholedocholithiasisInfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Fibropolycystic liver diseasesFibropolycystic liver diseasesCongenital hepatic fibrosisCaroli diseaseCholedochal cystsBiliary hamartomasLiver cirrhosis (any aetiology)Biliary stone diseaseCholecystolithiasisHepatolithiasisCholedocholithiasisInfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Congenital hepatic fibrosisCaroli diseaseCaroli diseaseCholedochal cystsBiliary stone diseaseCholecystolithiasisHepatolithiasisCholedocholithiasisInfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Caroli diseaseCaroli diseaseCholedochal cystsBiliary hamartomasLiver cirrhosis (any aetiology)Biliary stone diseaseCholecystolithiasisHepatolithiasisCholedocholithiasisCholedocholithiasisInfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Choledochal cystsBiliary hamartomasLiver cirrhosis (any aetiologyBiliary stone diseaseCholecystolithiasisHepatolithiasisCholedocholithiasisCholedocholithiasisInfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Biliary hamartomasLiver cirrhosis (any aetiology)Biliary stone diseaseCholecystolithiasisHepatolithiasisHepatolithiasisInfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Liver cirrhosis (any aetiologyBiliary stone diseaseCholecystolithiasisHepatolithiasisHepatolithiasisInfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Biliary stone diseaseCholecystolithiasisHepatolithiasisHepatolithiasisInfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Hepatolithiasis Choledocholithiasis Infections Liver flukes Hepatitis B and C Chronic typhoid disease Recurrent pyogenic cholangitis Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Infections Choledocholithiasis Infections Liver flukes Hepatitis B and C Chronic typhoid disease Chronic typhoid disease Recurrent pyogenic cholangitis Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) HIV
InfectionsLiver flukesHepatitis B and CChronic typhoid diseaseRecurrent pyogenic cholangitisHuman Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Hepatitis B and C Chronic typhoid disease Recurrent pyogenic cholangitis Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Chronic typhoid disease Recurrent pyogenic cholangitis Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Recurrent pyogenic cholangitis Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Inflammatory disorders Inflammatory bowel disease
Chronic pancreatitis
Gout
Thyrotoxicosis
Toxins Alcohol
Tobacco
Thorotrast (contrast agent)
Chemical toxins, e.g., dioxins, vinyl
Matabalia conditiona Dichetea
Diabetes
Non Alcoholia Fatty Liver Disease
(NAFLD)
Genetic disorders Lynch syndrome (Hereditary Non-
Polyposis Colorectal Cancer)
Other Intraductal Papillary Neoplasms of the Bile
duct (IPNB)

Table 1.2 Risk factor of cholangiocarcinoma (Labib, Goodchild, and Pereira, 2019).

The infection of liver fluke infections is a major risk factor for CCA cases in Asian regions, including *Opisthorchis viverrini, Clonorchis sinensis* and *Schistosomiasis japonica*. It has been suggested that cancer of the bile duct or CCA endemically in Thailand is primarily infected by *O. viverrini*. Almost one in six of

this liver flukes infect over its lifetime (Smout et al., 2013). This parasite infestation is mainly due to the dietary lifestyle by consuming raw fish which contains the metacercariae. Once *O. viverrini* ingested by human, it resides in the intra- and extrahepatic bile ducts, causing epithelial cell inflammation and fibrosis. When the parasites reach the adult stage, they cause hyperplasia and adenomatous formation of the bile duct epithelium, and this state considered as the chronic phase. During this stage, periductal fibrosis and scarring are developed and become the most prominent feature in the chronic infection stage. The life cycle of *O. viverrini* is illustrated in figure 3. *O. viverrini* has two intermediate host, including fresh-water snail and freshwater fish, while mammals represent the final host of this parasite (Al-Bahrani et al., 2013; Plentz and Malek, 2015).



Figure 1.3 Life cycle of *Opisthorics vivverrini* (Al-Bahrani et al., 2013).

Even though liver fluke infection is the major risk factor in Asia specially Thailand, the mortality rates for CCA due to the liver fluke infections are varied in the different region of Thailand. For example, in Northeast Thailand mortality rate for CCA is 43.6/100,000 and *O. viverrini* prevalence is 16%, meanwhile in South Thailand where the prevalence of *O. viverrini* is nearly zero and the mortality rate for CCA is only 4/100,000. Another interesting finding by (Bhamarapravati and Vajrasthira, 1978), there are the administration of nitrosamine to the animal model which infected with *O. viverrini*, and it determines the development of biliary cancer. Nitrosamines are commonly found in the fermented foods which are the dietary staple in Northeast Thailand. This exogenous co-factor involved in the constant cell division with the mechanically driven tissue injury. This mechanism is illustrated in hamster with fluke-induced wounding followed by sub-carcinogenic nitrosamine. The hamsters showed significant biliary lesion development (Smout et al., 2013). These findings suggest that *O. viverrini* is a major risk factor of CCA cases in Thailand and categorized as the fluke associated CCA.

1.2.3 Wnt signaling

Over than four decades ago, the wingless gene was discovered during mutagenesis screening of *Drosophila melanogaster*, affects its various developmental patterning processes. Subsequently, further genetic screening identified Wnt family as the key mediators of patterning decision during embryonic development. The name Wnt is formed from the combination name of the Drosophila segment polarity gene wingless and the name of its vertebrate homolog, integrated or int-1. There is a connection between Wnt pathway to cancer which implicated by the discovery of int1 (Wnt1) activation either by proviral insertion into the Wnt locus or transgenic overexpression in mice which resulted in mammary hyperplasia and tumor (Komiya and Habas, 2008; Zhan, Rindtorff, and Boutros, 2017).

Wnt pathway is commonly categorized as canonical (B-catenin dependent) or non-canonical (\beta-catenin independent) pathway which further distinguished as Planar Cell Polarity (PCP) and Wnt/ Ca^{2+} pathway (Komiya and Habas. 2008). Wnt signaling pathway begin with the interaction of Wnt ligand and Frizzled (Fzd) receptor. At the level of Fzd, Wnt signaling further divided into three major Wnt pathways: Wnt/ β -catenin, Wnt/PCP and Wnt/Ca²⁺. The activation of canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling cascade involving the interaction of Wnt ligands, Fzd receptor, and its co-receptor Low-density lipoprotein receptor- related protein 5,6 (LRP5/6). Whereas the activation of non-canonical Wnt signaling, both Wnt/PCP and Wnt/Ca²⁺ majorly depend on the interaction of Wnt ligands, Fzd receptor and/or Receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor (ROR1/ROR2/RYK) (Komiya and Habas, 2008; Martin-Orozco et al., 2019; S. Patel et al., 2019). Both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling are tightly regulated to maintain the stability of the cell through various mechanisms. Specifically, canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling cascade is responsible for cell proliferation, self-renewal, and cell differentiation. On the other hand, noncanonical Wnt signaling cascade maintains stem cell and cell movement (Duchartre, Kim, and Kahn 2016; Martin-Orozco et al., 2019).

According to the many studies of genetic and biochemistry, the common components of Wnt pathway in both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling are Wnt ligands and Fzd receptor. Wnt ligand family is a secreted lipid-modified glycoprotein consist of 19 different cysteine rich glycoprotein which exhibit specific function and highly conserved in invertebrates and mammals. Glycosylation and palmytoilation of Wnt ligand take place in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Oacetyltransferase Porcupine (PRCN) has been reported to be the major protein responsible for palmytoilation. Modified Wnt ligand further secreted under the regulation of transmembrane protein Evenness interrupted WNTless (Evi/Wls) and transported via Golgi apparatus. Fzd receptor is a seven-transmembrane-span protein with topological homology to G-protein coupled receptor which serve as binding sites for Wnt ligands. Fzd receptor is a common Wnt receptor in canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling pathway (Komiya and Habas, 2008; Martin-Orozco et al., 2019; S. Patel et al., 2019). The first complex step of Wnt signaling pathway begin with Wnt ligand secretion (Mikels and Nusse, 2006). Secreted Wnt ligands further activates Wnt signaling pathways by binding to the N-terminal extra-cellular cysteine-rich domain of the Fzd receptor family.

In canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway, the interaction between Wnt ligand, Fzd receptor and LRP 5/6 co-receptor transduces signal to cytoplasmic phosphoprotein Dishevelled (Dvl). This event triggers series of events that disturb the destruction complex (Figure 1.4). Destruction complex contains the two scaffold proteins Axis Inhibition Protein 1 (AXIN1) and Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), and Ser/Thr kinases including Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 β (GSK3 β) and Casein Kinase 1 (CK1 α , ε , γ , δ). Under unstimulated condition when Wnt signaling is inactivated, destruction complex renders Wnt signaling cascade by continuously synthesizing, ubiquitinating and degrading Wnt signaling key player, β -catenin (Komiya and Habas, 2008; Martin-Orozco et al., 2019). Phosphorylated β -catenin is recognized by E3 ubiquitin ligase β -Trcp which targets β -catenin for proteasomal degradation. As a result, β -catenin is not translocated into the nucleus and the activation of Wnt target genes are repressed (MacDonald, Tamai, and He, 2009).



Figure 1.4 Overview of destruction complex. Wnt signaling activity is controlled by multiprotein "destruction complex" that includes the tumor suppressor Axin and APC, Ser/Thr kinases GSK-3 and CK1, protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A), and the E-3 ubiquitin ligase β -TrCP (Stamos and Weis 2013).

It is important to understand that CK1 α and GSK3 β play a distinct role in Wnt signaling. At the level of destruction complex, in the absence of Wnt activation signal, both kinases continuously phosphorylating β -catenin. However, upon Wnt ligand stimulation, CK1 α and GSK3 β mediate LGR 5/6 phosphorylation which recruits Dishevelled (Dvl) protein to the plasma membrane followed by polymerization and activation of Wnt signaling (Komiya and Habas 2008). The direct interaction between Fzd and Dvl is the mediator of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway. In the activation of Wnt signaling and formation of Dvl polymer in the plasma membrane stabilizes β catenin and inactivates destruction complex. The accumulation of stabilized β -catenin translocated into the nucleus and forms active complex with lymphoid enhancer factor (LEF) and T-cell factor (TFC) proteins (Figure 1.5a). This transcriptional switch leads to a change of multiple cellular process, regulating cell differentiation and cell proliferation (Zhan, Rindtorff, and Boutros, 2017; Buechling et al., 2011; Mikels and Nusse, 2006; Komiya and Habas, 2008; Tsukiyama et al., 2015; Noll et al., 2016).



Figure 1.5 Schematic illustration of (A) canonical Wnt signaling pathway.



Figure 1.5 and (B) non-canonical Wnt signaling pathway (Martin-Orozco et al., 2019) (Continued).

The activation of non-canonical Wnt signaling pathway or also referred as β -catenin-independent pathway also begin with the interaction of Wnt ligand and Fzd receptor, without the participation of LRP 5/6 co-receptor. Two widely studied non-canonical Wnt pathways are including Wnt/PCP and Wnt/Ca²⁺. The major distinction of these two pathways is the type of Wnt ligand, receptor, and co-receptor along with downstream receptor they paired with. In Wnt/PCP pathway (Figure 1.5b, left panel), Wnt ligand and Fzd receptor activates signaling cascade by inducing the phosphorylate of VANGL2 by ROR/RYK, followed by activation of JUN kinase (JNK) by RHOA and RAC. JNK activation induce transcription of AP1 (Jun-ATF-2) and the nuclear factor of activated T cell (NFAT), followed by the regulation of cell polarity during morphogenesis. The activation of Wnt/Ca²⁺ (Figure 1.5b; right panel) begin with Wnt ligand and Fzd receptor binding which activates Phospholipase C (PLC). This activation stimulates the release of various molecules including diacylglycerol (DAG) and 1,4,5-triacylphosphate (IP3) which release Ca²⁺ ion and activates effector molecules protein like kinase C (PKC), calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CAMKII) and calcineurin (Cn). Subsequently, these kinases activate various transcription factor such as NFAT and nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB). The activity of this signaling is important in the regulation of cell migration, cell adhesion and embryonic development (Martin-Orozco et al., 2019; S. Patel et al., 2019).

1.2.4 Wnt signaling pathway in cancer

Abnormal regulation of Wnt signaling pathways is commonly found as the hallmark of cancer and other degenerative diseases. The activation of both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling associated with various types of liquid and solid tumor. Activation of canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling as well as non-canonical Wnt signaling have been reported in various types of cancer via distinct mechanisms. Although both mechanisms are reportedly to be involve in the progression of cancer, non-canonical Wnt signaling pathway is less studied. One of significant study of the involvement of non-canonical Wnt signaling is the role of a specific non-canonical Wnt signaling Wnt5a and its receptor Fzd6. Upregulation and binding activity of these two proteins activate PKC and other Wnt/ Ca^{2+} pathway in glioblastoma (Hirano et al., 2014), and gastric cancer (Kurayoshi et al., 2006; Corda and Sala, 2017) as well as the activation of Wnt/ PCP pathway in breast cancer (Anastas et al., 2012).

Conversely, canonical Wnt/ β-catenin signaling is often found to be activated in numerous cancers. For example, in colon and rectum cancer another Wnt receptor Colon cancer is one of the most studied cancer with the activation of Wnt signaling via APC mutations. Human intestinal organoids were used to study the carcinogenesis of CRC after APC truncation by genome editing of APC using the CRISPR/Cas9 (Tianzuo Zhan et al., 2019). Mouse model with reversible knockdown of APC via shRNA demonstrated tumor progression could be repressed when APC is This finding underlined the importance of continuous Wnt signaling in restored. Additionally, the mutations of a secreted protein maintaining tumor progression. which also play role in mediating the activation Wnt/ β -catenin signaling known as Rspondin also commonly found in colon cancer (Yang and Tang, 2000; Seshagiri et al., 2012). R-spondin specifically interact with Leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor 5 (LGR5) which also highly expressed and act as a marker of intestinal stem cells. In colon cancer, LGR5 significantly enhanced along with the deletion of APC in these cells (Barker et al., 2009). Aside from colon cancer, the important role of LGR5 receptor and its ligand R-spondin, have also been demonstrated in several tumor subtypes of colorectal cancer, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, and endometrial cancer. (Mikels and Nusse, 2006; Zhan, Rindtorff, and Boutros, 2017). Wnt activity is also found to be substantially increased in most of leukemias. The most common acute leukemias in adults are frequently characterized by chromosomal translocation. This progression is marked by the translocation products such as AML1-
ETO, MLL-AF9 which positively affect canonical Wnt signaling. β -catenin showed to be essential for the progression of leukemias initiating cells (LIC) and its self-renewal (Beghini et al., 2012). In more than 50% of breast cancer patients, Wnt signaling is also found to be activated and linked to the poor survival of the patients. Canonical Wnt activation was reportedly inhibit GSK3 β kinase activity which initiates epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) transcriptional program in breast cancer cell (Wu et al., 2012).

Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) is a Wnt-high tumor marked by high Wnt activation. According to findings by Boulter et al. (2015) canonical Wnt pathway is activated in human CCA marked by the overexpression of multiple Frizzled receptor as well as the Wnt ligands including WNT7B and WNT10A (Figure 1.6). The persistent activation of Wnt signaling in CCA is occur during CCA development. While in most of other gastrointestinal cancer and colon cancer, β -catenin and APC frequently found to be mutated, unlike those cancer, β -catenin and APC in liver-fluke associated CCA are unfrequently mutated. Whereas E3 ubiquitin ligase RNF43 is regularly mutated in liver-fluke associated CCA. Therefore, liver-fluke associated CCA could be susceptible to Wnt-inhibition based therapy since no commonly described mutation found downstream inhibition point (Boulter et al., 2015).



Figure 1.6 mRNA expression of WNT pathway genes and WNT target genes in CC versus patient-matched non-cancerous tissue (n = 11). Represented as a 3-fold change; P <0.05 (Boulter et al., 2015).

1.2.5 RING finger protein 43 (RNF43) in normal cell

The RING finger domain was first studied in the human protein RING and first identified in the early 1900's in the protein encoded by the Really Interesting New Gene (RING). The RING finger domain contains eight metal-binding residues which coordinate two zinc atoms in an interleaved pattern for folding and biological actions. RING finger proteins play critical roles in mediating the transfer of ubiquitin (Ub) to both of the heterologous substrates as well as the RING finger protein themselves. This protein act by mediating diverse protein-protein interaction and one of their main biological functions is catalysing ubiquitylation as a ubiquitin protein isopeptide ligase. The *RNF43* gene is made up of ten exons that are located within 63 kb of DNA on human chromosome 17q22 and encode a single polypeptide chain of 783 amino acids with a molecular weight of 85 kDa and an isoelectric point of about 8.10. This gene encodes a RING-type E3 ubiquitin ligase with a signal peptide, a transmembrane domain, a protease-associated domain, an ectodomain, and a cytoplasmic RING domain (Figure 1.7). RNF43 is suggested to become an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase that accepts ubiquitin from an E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme and transfers it directly to targeted substrate proteins for protein degradation (Figure 1.8).





Figure 1.7 RNF43 Schematic Overview The signal peptide is denoted by the green line. PA stands for protease-associated domain; TM stands for transmembrane domain; and RING stands for RING domain.



Figure 1.8 Ubiquitin (Ub) is covalently attached to substrate proteins in a three-step process involving the sequential actions of the enzymes E1 (ubiquitin-activating enzyme), E2 (ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme), and E3 (ubiquitin ligase). Multiple ubiquitin moieties are attached by E3, possibly with the assistance of an E4, resulting in the formation of a poly-ubiquitin chain (Passmore and Barford, 2004).

RNF43 is highly associated with the Wnt receptor complex and inhibits canonical Wnt/ β -catenin and non-canonical Wnt signaling through distinct mechanism. Inhibition Wnt signaling by RNF43 is necessary to prevent dysregulation of Wnt Nevertheless, inhibition of RNF43 in both signaling and supress tumorigenesis canonical Wnt/β-catenin and non-canonical Wnt signaling take place at the level of Fzd receptor. RNF43 plays a role in mediating the ubiquitination, endocytosis, and subsequent degradation of Wnt receptor complex component Fzd (Tsukiyama et al., 2015; Serra and Chetty, 2018). In canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling RNF43 interacts with the complex consist of Wnt receptor, Fzd and LRP5/6 receptors, mediating the ubiquitination of specific lysine residues in the cytoplasmic loops of these receptors (Figure 1.9). Wnt receptor removal by ubiquitination subsequently followed by Wnt signaling inactivation. Oppositely, in order to activate Wnt signaling, a secreted protein agonist of the canonical Wnt signaling, the ligand R-spondin removes RNF43 in the cell surface by autoubiquitination via the formation of tertiary complex consist of LGR4/5. The removal of RNF43 results in re-accumulation of Wnt at the cell surface with the consequent Wnt signaling enrichment (Serra and Chetty, 2018).

⁷วักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุร^ง

22



Figure 1.6 The interaction between RNF43 and Frizzled results in ubiquitination, endocytosis, and subsequent degradation of Frizzled, a component of the Wnt receptor complex. Wnt proteins interact with Frizzled and LRP5/6 to activate Wnt/- TCF4 and induce RNF43 expression (Serra and Chetty, 2018).

In addition to canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling, RNF43 has also been shown to physically interact with T cell factor 4 (TCF4), tethering TCF4 to the nuclear membrane and suppressing its transcriptional activity. TCF4 represents a key transcriptional factor that mediates canonical Wnt signaling, which plays a central role in embryonic development and maintains tissue homeostasis (Kendziorra et al., 2011). RNF43 also known to interact with NEDD-4 like ubiquitin-protein ligase 1 (NEDL1) and regulates p53-mediated transcription (Sugiura, Yamaguchi, and Miyamoto, 2008). Furthermore, RNF43 facilitates the ubiquitination of p53 and inhibited nucleoproteindriven activation of p53 transcription (Figure 1.10) (Shinada et al., 2011a; Sugiura, Yamaguchi). Taken together, RNF43 gene contributes to the regulation of p53, and the dysregulation of RNF43 may contribute to the development of tumorigenesis.



Figure 1.7 RNF43-regulated p53 cell cycling pathway model. The arrow denotes positive regulation, while the perpendicular lines denote negative regulation (Xie et al., 2015).

On the other hand, the regulation of non-canonical Wnt signaling activity by RNF43 simply occur in the level of Fzd and highly depends on Dvl2. In normal trafficking pathway, RNF43 maintain the level of non-canonical Wnt signaling by preventing the interaction between Dvl2 and Fzd by directly binds to Dvl2 (Tsukiyama et al., 2015).

1.2.6 RNF43 in Cancer

Transmembrane E3 ubiquitin ligase RNF43 negatively regulates Wnt signaling by promoting Fzd degradation in canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling or binds to Dvl2 in non-canonical Wnt signaling (Tsukiyama et al., 2015; Serra and Chetty 2018). Under normal condition, RNF43 directly interacts with Fzd receptor and Dvl2 and inhibit Wnt signaling via protein-associated (PA) domain of RNF43. The major

difference of canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling is the region of PA domain of the RNF43 (Figure 1.11). To inhibit canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling activation, extracellular PA domain of RNF43 at the N-terminus is necessary to bind with Fzd. While cytoplasmic C-terminus PA domain is required to supress tumorigenesis by interact with Dvl2 in non-canonical Wnt pathway (Tsukiyama et al., 2015). Therefore, mutation at this point is extremely critical to determine the fate of tumorigenesis.



Figure 1.8 RNF43 regulates canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling through distinct mechanism. N-terminal domain is important to regulate canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling by interacting with Fzd. C-terminus domain of RNF43 interact with Dvl to non-canonical Wnt signaling (Tsukiyama et al., 2015).

Numerous studies related to RNF43 mutation frequencies have been reported over the past years. RNF43 act of mechanism in cancer cell can be either be tumor suppressor or oncogene, depends on the types of cancer (Table 1.3). Nevertheless, RNF43 mutation frequencies are often found in cancers indicating its importance as tumor suppressor.

Cancers	RNF43 act of mechanism	Mutation frequency	References
Pancreatic cyst			
Intraductal papillary	Inactivate mucinous	75%	
mucinous neoplasm	type (Tumor		
(IPMN)	suppressor)		(J. wu et al., 2011)
Mucinous cystic		37.5%	2011)
neoplasm (MCN)			
Cholangiocarcinoma (C	CA)		
O. viverrini associated	Poor patient survival	9.3%	(Ong et al.,
Non- <i>O</i> . viverrini	related to the low	3.5%	2012; Chan-On
associated	RNF43 expression.		et al., 2013;
	(Tumor suppressor)		Talabnin et al.,
			2016)
Gastric cancer			
Microsatellite-stable	Inactivation of	4.8%	(K. Wang et
(MSS)	RNF43 result in		al., 2014)
Microsatellite	deregulation of Wnt	54.6%	
instability (MSI)	activity		
Colorectal adenocarcing	omas		
NHS and HPFS data set	Highly mutated,	18.9%	(Giannakis et
	increasing tumor		al., 2014)
TCGA dataset 🛛 🥌	progression	17.6%	
Endometrial	Frequent mutation	18.1%	(Giannakis et
carcinomas	conferred fitness		al., 2014;
	advantage to the		Ryland et al.,
	tumor	100	2013)
Pancreatic carcinomas	Low mutation	4%	(Jiao et al.,
with acinar	RNF43 is found in	SU	2014)
differentiation 78	this cancer	23	
	"GOI MILLIC"		

Table 1.3RNF43 mutations and frequencies in various cancers.

The changes at the genetic level are mainly manifested by various phenotypic characteristic by which tumor cells are able to escape the anti-tumor signals, to acquire resistance to the treatment, invade and create further secondary tumor, to replicate limitlessly. Resisting cell death, maintaining proliferative signaling, evading growth suppressors, inducing angiogenesis, enabling replicative immortality, and activating invasion and metastasis are typical phenotypic changes seen in common cancers.(Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011).

According to various studies, the alteration of RNF43 expression level both mRNA and protein, significantly correlated to clinicopathological outcomes. For example, in human gastric carcinoma Niu et al., (2015) found a significant downregulation of RNF43 in mRNA level compared to the normal mucosae. This finding highly correlated to the histological differentiation (Figure 1.12; p=0.001), T-stage cancer (P<0.001), depth of invasion (P<0.001), lymph node metastasis (P<0.001), pTNM stage (P<0.001) and survival (P=0.021). These results indicate that low expression level of RNF43 are typically correlated with the severity level of malignant and metastasis (Niu et al., 2015).



Figure 1.12 RNF43 immunohistochemistry in gastric carcinoma and adjacent normal tissues. RNF43 staining in adjacent normal tissue: (a) strong positive x100, (b) strong positive x200; highly differentiated gastric carcinoma tissue: (c) moderately positive x200, (d) moderately positive x400; moderately differentiated gastric carcinoma tissue: (e) weakly positive x200, (f) weakly positive x400; poorly differentiated gastric carcinoma tissue: (g) negative x100, (h) negative x200 (Niu et al., 2015).

Worse prognosis in gastric cancer patients with low mRNA and protein expression level were also reported by Gao et al., (2017). Notably low expression level of RNF43 is significantly correlated with various clinicopathological features such as distant metastasis (P=0.030), pTNM stage (P=0.033) and Laurent classification (P=0.001). Furthermore, low RNF43 expression may predict a patient's overall survival (Figure 1.13) Additionally, two different studies were confirmed the functional role of RNF43 inhibiting chemoresistance in gastric cancer. One study tried to overexpress RNF43 in human cell line model, followed by chemotherapeutic drugs 5-FU and oxiplatin. The result showed that RNF43 overexpression increase drug response marked by significant decrease of cell viability. Another study confirm depletion of RNF43 increase cell chemoresistance via DNA damage response (DDR) indicated by reduced activation of DDR and apoptosis (Gao et al., 2017; Neumeyer et al., 2021).





Figure 1. 9 Kaplan-Meier analysis depicted the correlation of poor overall survival rate of gastric carcinoma cancer and the downregulation of RNF43 (Gao et al., 2017).

Even though in the majority of cancer RNF43 is mutated and downregulated, the high expression of RNF43 was reported to promote cancer progression in colorectal cancer. Based on finding by Yagyu et al., (2004) the expression of RNF43 was elevated in majority of colon cancer. Further studies demonstrated functional role of RNF43 as the oncogene. In colorectal cancer, RNF43 has the ability to interact with NEDL1 and suppress p53-mediated transcriptional activity (Shinada et al., 2011). In hepatocellular carcinoma, suppression of RNF43 induces the accumulation of G1-S phase cell cycle arrest and leads to cell apoptosis via a p53 dependent pathway. Moreover, cell migration and invasion were inhibited under RNF43-knockdown condition (Xing et al., 2013). Taken together, RNF43 is implicated in malignancy which may involve in all steps of tumor development and progression.

1.2.7 RNF43 in CCA

Wnt/ β -catenin signaling activation has long been linked to tumor progression, with many downstream Wnt components found to be mutated in cancer. Treating cancer harbouring Wnt downstream mutations remains challenging due to lack of tractable targets. However, targeting upstream of Wnt signaling pathway may be promising options including LRP6, Frizzled, Porcupine as well as ZNRF3/RNF43 which degrade Frizzled. Therefore, understanding defined mutations in patient population that are dependent on ligand-induced Wnt/ β -catenin signaling is necessary. According to the finding by Ong et al. (2012), there were numerous genes found to be mutated in liver-fluke associated CCA, including 10 newly implicated genes such as *MLL3, ROBO2, RNF43* and *PEG3* (Table 1.4). These genes were obtained from the identification and validation of 206 somatic mutation in 187 genes.



Gene	O. viverrini– associated CCA ($N = 54$)	PDAC (N = 114)	HCV-associated HCC (N = 95)
TP53	44.4% (24)	85%	33.7%
KRAS	16.7% (9)	100%	0/10
SMAD4	16.7% (9)	27%	0/10
CDKN2A	5.6% (3)	25%	0/10
MLL3	14.8% (8)	7.9%	0/10
ROBO2	9.3% (5)	0/24	0/10
GNAS	9.3% (5)	0/24	0/10
<i>RNF43</i>	9.3% (5)	0/24	0/10
PEG3	5.6% (3)	1/24	0/10
XIRP2	5.6% (3)	0/24	0/10
PTEN	3.7% (2)	0/24	0/10
RADIL	3.7% (2)	0/24	0/10
NDC80	3.7% (2)	0/24	0/10
PCDHA13	3.7% (2)	0/24	0/10
LAMA2	3.7% (2)	0/24	0/10
CTNNB1	0/8	0/24	20%
ARID2	0/8	0/24	7.4%
DMXL1	0/8	0/24	4.2%
NLRP1	0/8	0/24	4.2%

Table 1.4 Mutated genes found in *O. viverrini* – related CCA identified by wholeexome sequencing (Ong et al., 2012).

Among 10 newly implicated genes, RNF43 incited particular interest,

because RNF43 was found to be involved in the activity of the Wnt signaling pathway. According to the previous study by Talabnin et al. (2016), most of the CCA patients were expressing lower RNF43 mRNA and protein levels. The experiments were confirmed the association of low RNF43 protein level with the overall poor survival of the patients. (Figure 1.14).



Figure 1.14 Kaplan-Meier analysis was used to determine the overall survival of CCA patients with different levels of RNF43 protein expression (low versus high). According to the findings, patients with high RNF43 protein expression outlived those with low protein expression (Talabnin et al., 2015).

The genetic alteration also found to be associated with the RNF43 expression. They found one significant association of the *RNF43* polymorphism between rs2257205 and the decrease of RNF43 mRNA expression (Figure 1.15). However, this result was not directly associated with level of RNF43 protein level expression. They assume that this perhaps due to the location of this polymorphism that is situated in the coding sequence of the exon 3 rather than the regulatory region. Therefore, no significant protein expression changes were observed.



Figure 1.15 RNF43 polymorphism influenced the RNF43 mRNA level. (A) P = .065 between GA and GG genotypes; (B) P = .008 between AA and GG genotypes (Talabnin et al., 2015).

Although the mechanisms underlying this phenomenon remains unclear, this genetic alteration may serve as the prognostic marker of CCA. Hence, further studies are required to elucidate the role of RNF43 in CCA.

1.3 Thesis Objectives

The objectives of this thesis work were:

1.3.1 To determine the biological function of RNF43 by observing the phenotypic changes of CCA cell lines after RNF43 overexpression.

10

1.3.2 To investigate the effect of forced RNF43 expression on the Wnt signaling pathway in CCA.

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Human cholangiocarcinoma cell lines

As previously described by Sripa et al., (2005) four human CCA cell lines (KKU055, KKU-100, KKU-213 and KKU-213B) were established from tumors of patients with CCA and liver-fluke infection admitted to Srinagarind Hospital, Khon Kaen University (Khon Kaen, Thailand). The Japanese Collection of Research Bioresources Cell Bank provided certificates of analysis. Cells were grown in DMEM Nutrient Mixture (cat. no. 12100-046; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.; USA) supplemented with 1% penicillin-streptomycin (cat. no. 15140-122; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.; USA) and 10% FBS (cat. no. 10270-098; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.; USA). Cells were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. Cells with 70-80% confluence at 24 h were trypsinized with 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (cat. no. 25200-072; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.; USA) and sub-cultured in the same media. Mycoplasma testing with MycoAlert mycoplasma detection kit (cat. no. LT07-418; Lonza Rockland, Inc.; USA) was conducted for the cell lines used.

2.1.2 Chemicals, oligonucleotide primers and antibodies

All chemicals, primers and antibodies used in this experiment are listed in tables 2.1 to 2.3.

2.1.2.1 Chemicals

Table 2.1Chemical list.

Chemical	Source	Identifier
DMEM Nutrient Mixture	Gibco; Thermo Fisher	12100-046
	Scientific, Inc.; USA	
1% penicillin-streptomycin	Gibco; Thermo Fisher	15140-122
	Scientific, Inc.; USA	
10% FBS	Gibco; Thermo Fisher	10270-098
	Sci <mark>en</mark> tific, Inc.; USA	
0.25% trypsin-EDTA	Gibco; Thermo Fisher	25200-072
	Scientific, Inc.; USA	
MycoAlert mycoplasma	Lonza Rockland, Inc.; USA	LT07-418
detection kit		
Plasmid Mini prep		
Endo Free Maxi Plasmid Kit	Tiangen Biotech; Beijing	4992194
Lipofectamine® 3000	Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher	3000-008
	Scientific, Inc.; USA	
Opti-MEM	Gibco; Thermo Fisher	22600-050
	Scientific, Inc.; USA	
5-Fluorouracil	Boryung Pharmaceutical Co.,	1C 229/39
	Ltd; South Korea	
Trichloroacetic acid (TCA)	Merck; Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.;	T0699
	USA	
Sulforhodamine B	Merck; Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.;	3520-42-1
	USA	
Triton-X 100	PanReac, AppliChem	A4975,0500
TRIzol® Reagent	Invitrogen; Thermo Fisher	15596026
775	Scientific, Inc	
SensiFAST [™] cDNA Synthesis	Bioline ; Meridian Bioscience	BIO-65053
Kit	JINAIUIA	
LightCycler® 480 SYBR Green	Roche; Roche Molecular	04707516001
I Master	Systems, Inc	
cOmplete [™] ULTRA Tablets,	Roche; Roche Molecular	5892970001
Mini, EASYpack Protease	Systems, Inc	
Inhibitor Cocktail		
Pierce [™] BCA Protein Assay	Thermo Scientific, Inc; USA	23225
Reagent A		
Immobilon Forte Western HRP	Merck Millipore; Darmstadt;	WBLUF0100
substrate	Germany	

2.1.2.2 Oligonucleotide primers

Table 2.2Oligonucleotide primer list.

Target gene	Forward	Reverse	
RNF43	5'-tctgtctggaggagttctct-3'	5'-ctccctctgtgatgttgaac-3'	
AXIN2	5'-cagatccgagaggatgaagaga-3'	5'-agtatcgtctgcgggtcttc-3'	
BIRC5	5'-ctgctgtggaccctactg-3'	5'-aactgcgtctctgccaggac-3'	
CDH1	5'- caccacgggcttggattttg-3'	5'- tgggggcttcattcacatcc-3'	
CDH2	5'- atcctgcttatccttgtgctg-3'	5'- gtcctggtcttcttctcctcc-3'	
c-MYC	5'- tgaggagacaccgcccac -3'	5'- caacatcgatttcttcctcatcttc-3'	
MMP-2	5' tgaccaagggtacagcctgt 3'	5' agaggccccatagagctcct 3'	
MMP-7	5'-tgtatggggaactgctgaca-3'	5'-gcgttcatcctcatcgaagt-3'	
MMP-9	5' ctctggag <mark>g</mark> ttcgacgtgaa 3'	5' ggctttctctcggtactgga 3'	
CCND1	5'-aactacctggaccgcttcct-3'	5'-ccacttgagcttgttcacca-3'	
ABC-B1	5'-ctcagacaggatgtgagttggt-3'	5'-acagcaagcctggaacctat-3'	
ABC-C1	5'-ctgggcttatttcggatcaa-3'	5'-tgaatgggtccaggttcatt-3'	
ACTB	5'-gatcagcaagcaggagtatgacg-3'	5'-aagggtgtaacgcaactaagtcatag-3'	

RNF43, Ring finger protein 43: *AXIN2*, axis inhibition protein 2; *BIRC5*, baculoviral inhibitor of apoptosis repeat-containing 5; *CDH1*, Cadheri-1;(E-cadherin) *CDH2*, Cadherin-2 (N-Cadherin); *c-MYC*, cellular myelocytomatosis; *MMP-2*, *-7*, *-9*, Matrix metalloprotease-2, *-7*, *-9*; *CCND1*, Cyclin D1; *ABC-B1* (MDR1), ATP-binding cassette sub-family B member 1(Multidrug resistance mutation 1); *ABC-C1* (MRP1); ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily C Member 1 (Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1).

2.1.2.3 Antibodies

Table 2.3Antibody list.

Antibody	Source	Identifier
Mouse anti- β actin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	Cat# sc-47778
Mouse anti Histone H1	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	Cat# sc-8030
Rabbit anti RNF43	Sigma-aldrich	Cat# HPA008079
Rabbit anti Frizzled	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	Cat# sc-293261
Rabbit anti Cyclin D1	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	Cat# sc-8396
Rabbit anti TCF4	Cell signaling	Cat# 2569
Rabbit anti β-catenin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	Cat# sc-7963
Rabbit anti Lamin B1	Cell signaling	Cat# 12586
Rabbit anti Cleaved Caspase-3	Cell signaling	Cat# 9664
Rabbit anti Caspase-3	Cell signaling	Cat# 9662
Rabbit anti BAX	Proteintech	Cat# 50599-2-Ig
Mouse anti BCL2	Proteintech	Cat# 12789-1-AP
Rabbit anti PARP 1	Proteintech	Cat# 13371-1-AP
Rabbit anti-phosphorylated β -	Cell signaling	Cat# 9561
catenin		
Mouse IgG, HRP-linked whole	Amersham ECL	Cat# NXA931
Ab (from sheep)		
Rabbit IgG, HRP-linked whole	Amersham ECL	Cat# NA934
Ab (from donkey)		

2.1.3 RNF43-DDK-Myc expression vector

RNF43/pCMV6/neomycin-DDK-Myc construct vector (cat. no. PS100001; Origene; OriGene Technologies, Inc.) and PCMV6-entry vector were transformed into *Escherichea coli* (*E. coli*) strain DH5 α (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and grown in Luria Broth (LB, 10 g/L tryptone, 5 g/L yeast extract, 5 g/L sodium chloride) agar plate containing 25 µg/mL kanamycin for 16 h. The starter culture was prepared by picking a single colony and inoculating it into 500 µL of LB media containing kanamycin, followed by incubation at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm for 3-4 h. The starter cultures were inoculated into 200 mL of LB containing kanamycin in a flask and incubated at 37°C for 20-22 h with shaking until the OD₆₀₀ reached 0.5- 0.6.

Plasmid was collected by harvest of the bacterial cultures and application of the Endo Free Maxi Plasmid Kit (cat no. 4992194; Tiangen Biotech; Beijing). In brief, the cell pellet was collected by centrifuging the bacterial culture at 3,000*xg* for 15 min, followed by resuspending the cell pellet with buffer. Cells were lysed and neutralized, then transferred to the equilibrated Plasmid Maxi column and the column was allowed to empty by gravity flow. Then, the DNA binding columns were washed and eluted with a high salt buffer, followed by precipitation of the pure plasmid DNA. Plasmid amplification products were verified by PCR and both plasmid single digestion by *EcoRI* restriction enzyme and double digestion by *EcoRI* and *XhoI* restriction enzyme.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 RNF43 overexpression

The pCMV6-entry/RNF43 expression vector (cat. no. PS100001; Origene; OriGene Technologies, Inc.) was transfected into CCA cell lines by using Lipofectamine® 3000 reagent (cat. no. 3000-008; Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.; USA). Cells were seeded on either 6-well plates or 24-well plates (3-4 x 10⁵/well), depending on the following experiment, and incubated for overnight. The amount of DNA transfected into the cells for both empty plasmid (250 ng/µl) and RNF43 containing plasmid (195 ng/µl) was 2.5 µg. Transfection was followed by 24 h incubation with Opti-MEM (cat. no. 22600-050; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.; USA) with no media replacement at 37°C and with 5% CO₂.

2.2.2 Cell proliferation and drug treatment

Cell proliferation was performed by seeding the 1 x 10⁴ cells in a 96 well plate with the complete DMEM Nutrient Mixture (cat. no. 12100-046; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.; USA) supplemented with 1% penicillin-streptomycin (cat. no. 15140-122; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.; USA) and 10% FBS (cat. no. 10270-098; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.) and incubated for 0, 24, 48 to 72h. Three rounds of serial replating were performed for each experiment.

Drug sensitivity assay was performed by using various commonly used chemotherapeutic drugs for CCA patient including: 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) (cat. no. 1C 229/39; Boryung Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd; South Korea), Gemcitabine (cat no. 1C 32/53; Fresenius Kabi Oncology Ltd; India) and Cisplatin (cat no. 1C 253/39; Boryung Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd; South Korea). Transfected cells (1 x 10⁴ cells in 96-well plate) were incubated for overnight. On the following day, the cells were treated with 5-FU with 2-fold serial diluted concentrations 0, 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25, and 50 µM. Cells were further incubated for 48 h and 72 h and maintained with 5.0% CO₂ at 37°C. Each experiment was performed with three replications.

Sulforhodamine B (SRB) sssay was used to determine cell viability after the treatment. Initially, cells in 96-well plate were fixed in 100 μ L of 10% (v/v) Trichloroacetic acid (TCA) (cat. no. T0699; Merck; Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.; USA) for at least 3 h at 4°C. Cells were washed and subsequently stained with 0.4% (w/v) Sulfrhodamine B (cat. 3520-42-1; Merck; Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.; USA) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Cells were rinsed with 1% (v/v) acetic acid 5 times followed by dilution in 10 mM Tris base solution (pH 10.5) and the plate shaken on an orbital shaker for 10 min to solubilize the protein-bound dye (approximately 10 min). The absorbance was further measured in a by microplate reader at 562 nm.

2.2.3 Colony formation assay

Transfected cells were seeded at the density 2.000 cells per well in a 6-well plate with complete DMEM media in the presence of 0, 3.125 and 6.25 μ M 5-FU. The cells were treated for 48 h prior to further incubation for 10 to 14 days and maintained with 5.0% CO₂ at 37°C. Crystal violet staining was used to visualize the colony formed. The cells were washed with 1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS) three times. Methanol was used to fix the cell for at least 2 hours at -20°C, followed by staining by 0.5% (w/v) Crystal violet in 100% methanol for 1 h at room temperature. Cells were washed with tap water and dried. The observation was made by observing the colony formation and captured by camera. Colony area was measured by ImageJ software version 1.53a (National Institute of Health, USA) and calculated by comparing colony area for each drug concentration relative to the colony with 0 μ M 5-FU.

2.2.4 Wound healing assay

RNF43 was overexpressed in 4×10^5 cells in 6-well plate, which were incubated for 24 h. On the following day, a vertical wound was made down through the cell mono layer by a 200 µl pipette tip with certain force against the tissue culture plate to avoid damage. The old media was discarded followed by additional new complete DMEM. The initial observation was performed by record the picture right after the wound was made. The cells were further incubated at 37°C and with 5% CO₂. Wound was further recorded at 16, 20, and 24 h incubation times. The experiment data were obtained from triplicate. Wound closure was calculated by comparing the wound area size relative to the initial wound area and calculated by ImageJ software version 1.53a (National Institute of Health, USA).

2.2.5 Transwell cell migration assay

Approximately 600 µl of complete DMEM supplemented with 1% penicillinstreptomycin and 10% FBS was added into the 24-well plate. A total of 3 x 10⁴ cells in 200 µl DMEM media without FBS were added into the Transwell insert apparatus with 8-µm pore size of polycarbonate membrane (cat no. 3422; Corning Inc.; USA) and securely moved by forceps to 24-well cell plate filled with complete DMEM. The cells were further incubated at 37°C and with 5% CO₂ for 16 h and 24 h. Migrated cells in the transwell insert were fixed in 600 µL of 10% (v/v) TCA and stained by 0.4% (w/v) SRB. Cells were rinsed with 1% (v/v) acetic acid. Cells were further observed under the microscope and images captured by camera. To further quantify cell migration, dilution of migrated cells by 10 mM Tris-base solution (pH 10.5) was performed. The plate was placed on an orbital shaker for 10 min to solubilize the protein-bound dye. The absorbance was further read by microplate reader at 562 nm.

2.2.6 Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted from the cells by using TRIzol® Reagent (cat. no. 15596026; Invitrogen; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc, USA), followed by cDNA synthesis with the SensiFASTTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (cat. no. BIO-65053; Bioline; Meridian Bioscience, USA). Quantitative real-time (RT) PCR was analyzed according to LightCycler® 480 SYBR Green I Master (cat. no. 04707516001; Roche; Roche Molecular Systems, Inc., USA) and performed using LightCycler ® 480 Real-Time PCR System (Roche; Roche Molecular Systems, Inc.). Target genes were amplified

with the primers listed on Table 2.2 Gene expression values were normalized against the house-keeping gene β -actin. Relative gene expressions were determined by the 2⁻ $\Delta\Delta CT$ and 2^{- ΔCT} methods.

2.2.7 Protein collection

Protein samples were collected from various sources as follows:

Whole cell lysate

Whole cell protein lysate from cell line culture collection was performed by washing cell culture with 1X PBS followed by adding lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl; 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4; 1% sodium deoxycholate; 0.1% SDS; and 1X cOmpleteTM ULTRA Tablets, Mini, EASYpack Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (cat no. 5892970001; Roche, Indianapolis; USA). The cells were scraped with a rubber policeman and transferred into the 1.5 μ l Eppendorf tube followed by 20 minutes centrifugation at 16,000 rpm at 4°C. Cell lysate on the top layer was collected in a new 1.5 ml sterile Eppendorf tube and stored at -80°C.

Cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions

To collect the protein from cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions, cells were initially washed with 1X PBS. CHEMICON®'s Nuclear Extraction Kit (cat no. 2900, Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany) was used to collect the protein by adding ice cold 1x Cytoplasmic Lysis Buffer (10x Cytoplasmic lysis buffer, 1 M DTT and 1/1000 protease inhibitor cocktail) and incubating on ice for 15 minutes. The cells were scraped and moved to a new 1.5 ml tube and centrifuge at 8.000xg, 20 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant, which contain the cytoplasmic fraction, was transferred into new 1.5 ml tube and store at -80°C. The pellet was resuspended by 1x Nuclear extraction buffer (1x nuclear extraction buffer, 1 M DTT and 1/1000 protease inhibitor) and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Nuclear suspension was centrifuged at 16.000xg for 5 minutes. The supernatant, which contains the nuclear fraction, was collected into 1.5 ml tube and store at -80°C.

Collected protein was quantified by Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay Reagent A (cat no. 23225; Thermo Scientific, Inc; USA). Protein was diluted in 1x PBS (1:20) mixed with BCA working reagent (BCA solution and 4% cupric sulfate) and incubated in 60°C for 15 minutes. The absorbance at 562 nm was read by microplate reader.

2.2.8 SDS-PAGE and Western blotting

Protein separation by SDS-PAGE was performed according to the standard laboratory protocols. Separated protein was further electro-transferred to an Amersham Protran 0.45 NC nitrocellulose Western blotting membranes (cat. no. 10600003, GE Healthcare, Amersham, UK). Protein detection was observed by using antibody listed on the Table 2. Blot was visualized by using Immobilon Forte Western HRP substrate (cat. no. WBLUF0100, Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany) and Amersham[™] Hyperfilm[™] (cat. no. 28906838, GE healthcare, Amersham, UK).

2.2.9 Statistical analysis

To compare two groups of samples, Student's t-test to compare two groups of samples, one-way ANOVA and Dunnett test for multiple comparisons, and two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni correction for comparisons among groups with different time points. To indicate statistical significance the following annotation were used: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ****P < 0.0001. Statistical parameters, including the exact values of n and precision measure (mean \pm SEM) and statistical significance, are reported in the figures and figure legends. Statistical analysis and graph construction were performed using GraphPad Prism version 5 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA).



CHAPTER III

RESULT

3.1 Basal *RNF43* gene expression and RNF43 protein expression, and RNF43 overexpression in CCA

In order to confirm the correlation between the low expression of RNF43 with the progression of CCA, several CCA cell lines were used to determine the basal *RNF43* mRNA and RNF43 protein expression level. According to our integrated analysis in four different CCA cell lines (KKU-055, KKU-100, KKU-213A and KKU-213B), both *RNF43* mRNA and RNF43 protein showed exceptionally low expression level (Figure 3.1). To understand the functional involvement of *RNF43* gene in CCA, we used transient transfection system to overexpress *RNF43* gene. The transfection was carried out by Lipofectamine 3000 with pCMV6-RNF43 for *RNF43* gene overexpression, and pCMV6-Entry as the control. Overexpression of *RNF43* was successfully performed in the KKU-213B cell line (Figure 3.2). We also found that the majority of RNF43 protein was expressed in the nuclear fraction, rather than in the cytoplasm. Accordingly, our results demonstrate all CCA cell lines were obviously express low *RNF43* mRNA and RNF43 protein expression levels, which is in line with previous findings in CCA tissue (Talabnin et al., 2016)



Figure 3.1 Basal RNF43 expression in various CCA cell lines. (A) q-RT PCR and (B) western blot were performed to determine basal expression of *RNF43* mRNA and RNF43 protein expression level of various CCA cell lines. *ACTB* (β -actin) was used as the reference gene. mRNA expression level was determine using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT}. A CCA cell line with RNF43 overexpression was used as a positive control to determine RNF43 protein.



Figure 3.2 *RNF43* overexpression. (a) q-RT PCR and (b) western blot were used to determine the level of RNF43 in KKU-213B after transfection. *ATCB1* (β -actin) was used as the reference gene. Relative mRNA expression level was determine using 2⁻ $\Delta\Delta$ CT normalized to pCMV6-Entry. Bar graph represents mean ± SEM of three independent experiments.

3.2 *RNF43* overexpression inhibits Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway subsequently altered downregulation of various Wnt target genes

Since the translocation of β -catenin from the cytoplasm into the nucleus is an indispensable event to determine Wnt/ β -catenin signaling activation (Loregger et al., 2015), we further studied the localization of β -catenin in KKU-213B overexpressing *RNF43* The result showed that overexpression of *RNF43* accumulates the β -catenin protein expression in the cytoplasm and blocks translocation into the nucleus indicated by less RNF43 observed in the nuclear fraction (cytoplasmic and nuclear β -catenin localization protein fold change 1.2 and 0.9, respectively. **P*<0.05) (Figure 3.3). Additionally, the nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio (N/C ratio) of β -catenin protein expression was significantly lower in the cell overexpressing *RNF43* when compared to that of the control (**P*<0.05; protein fold change 0.78 and 1, respectively) (Figure 3.4).

Next, various Wnt/ β -catenin target genes were also examined to further confirm the activity of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling. The result showed there were remarkable downregulations of all 6 Wnt target genes in KKU-213B following *RNF43* overexpression (Figure 3.5). Interestingly, the downregulation of the Wnt target genes upon RNF43 overexpression has been reported to involve in various aspects of tumor progression such as anti-apoptosis and proliferation (*BIRC5, CCND1, CMYC*), migration and invasion (*MMP7*), and drug resistance, (*ABCB1*). Moreover, downregulation of *AXIN2*, a specific Wnt/ β -catenin target gene, further confirm that the downregulation of Wnt target genes was occur via the inhibition of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway by RNF43. Taken together, these results indicated that RNF43 blocks the key protein β -catenin to translocate into the nucleus, leading to inactivation of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling via suppressing transcriptional level of known Wnt target genes.



Figure 3. 3 Localization of various key Wnt/ β -catenin proteins. (A) Western blot analysis showed the accumulation of β -catenin in the cytoplasm in KKU-213B overexpression *RNF43*. The majority of RNF43 and TCF4 proteins are expressed in the nuclear fraction. (B), Protein measurement and calculation were performed by ImageJ and GraphPad Prism 5. Relative protein expression was normalized to pCMV6-Entry-transfected KKU-213B. The bar graph represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05, ***P*<0.001.



Figure 3.4 Ratio of nuclear/cytoplasmic β -catenin (N/C) of *RNF43*-overexpressing KKU-213B compared to the control. The N/C ratio indicates the amount of β -catenin translocated into the nucleus versus β -catenin remains in the cytoplasm. Relative protein expression was normalized to pCMV6-Entry-transfected KKU-213B. The bar graph represents mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05.



Figure 3.5 Downregulation of various Wnt target genes treated with *RNF43* overexpression. Relative mRNA expression level was determined using $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ normalized to cell transfected with pCMV6-Entry. The bar graph represents mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05.

3.3 *RNF43* overexpression reduces CCA cell proliferation

In order to understand the functional role of RNF43 in mediating the suppression of proliferative cell growth, we studied the effect of RNF43 by overexpressing *RNF43* in KKU-213B cell line. Overexpression was performed by pCMV6-RNF43 and pCMV6-Entry transfection, followed by incubation for 24 h, 48 h and 72 h to observe its proliferative activity. The result showed that KKU-213B overexpressing *RNF43* have a significantly lower cell proliferation rate, when compared to that of the control cells transfected with pCMV6-Entry plasmid (Figure 3.6). Efficient *RNF43* overexpression substantially decrease cell growth after 48 h (186% vs 166% for pCMV6-Entry vs pCMV6-RNF43, respectively. **P*<0.05) and 72 h of incubation (338% vs. 317% for pCMV6-Entry vs pCMV6-RNF43, respectively (**P*< 0.05). Additionally, downregulation of *CCND1*(Cyclin D1) and *CMYC* (c-MYC) following *RNF43* overexpression were further observed. These findings confirm that cell growth was specifically decreased by RNF43 via Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway inhibition (Figure 3.7).

รัฐ รัฐ รัฐ รัฐ รัฐ รัฐ รัฐ รัฐ เม



Figure 3. 6 *RNF43* overexpression supressed cell proliferation. Percent cell viability was normalized to absorbance of KKU-control at 0 h. Bar graph represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05.



Figure 3. 7 Downregulation of Wnt/ β-catenin as well as proliferative marker genes *CCND1* and *c-MYC* upon *RNF43* overexpression was measured by qRT PCR. Relative mRNA expression level was determine using $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ normalized to pCMV6-Entry. Bar graph represents mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05.

3.4 RNF43 overexpression enhances 5-fluorouracil sensitivity

Cell proliferation is directly or indirectly supported by various classical hallmarks of cancers, including one of the current greatest challenges in cancer, the drug resistance mechanism (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011; Nussinov, Tsai, and Jang 2017). To unravel the possible RNF43 mechanism in suppressing drug resistance, we performed drug treatment to RNF43-overexpressed cells. Initially, we tried to compare various common chemotherapeutic drugs, such as Gemcitabine and Cisplatin. However, we were unable to observe noticeable effect of RNF43 on the chemoresistance of these two regiments (Figure 3.8) in KKU-213B. Then, we focused on 5-FU as the chemotherapeutic agent used to study *RNF43* effect in KKU-213B with various gradient concentrations (0, 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25 and 50 µM) and treated for 48 and 72 h. Our data showed, overexpression of *RNF43* in KKU-213B decreased cell viability which indicated the improvement of drug sensitivity of the cells (Figure 3.9). Although statistically there was no significant effect of RNF43 in KKU-213B, RNF43 overexpression moderately increased 5-FU drug response. Better drug response was indicated by lower cell viability after treatment compared to the control. This effect was even more pronounced in the cell with longer treatment time (48 h compared to 72 h).

In order to corroborate this finding, we further investigated cell survival by performing colony formation assay. pCMV6-RNF43 and pCMV6-Entry transfected cells were treated with 5-FU (0, 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25 and 50 μ M) for 48h prior to 14 days of prolonged incubation time. The result showed that the colony in the cells which transfected with pCMV6-RNF43 were less formed compared to that of the control (Figure 3.10). Furthermore, various drug resistance genes were downregulated
following *RNF43* overexpression, including *ABCB1* and *ABCC1* which are known as the major contributors to chemoresistance in cancers including CCA by mediating drug efflux (Figure 3.11).

Next, to define the role of RNF43 in mediating cell death, we examined various apoptotic markers after RNF43 overexpression. Our result showed that RNF43 overexpression slightly altered the protein expression level of apoptotic marker proteins, Caspase-3, and the anti-apoptotic protein, Bcl2, (Figure 3.12). Moreover, there was a significant downregulation of apoptotic inhibitor *BIRC5* (Figure 3.11). Collectively, we conclude that overexpression of RNF43 enhances 5-FU chemotherapeutic drug susceptibility via WNT/ β -catenin pathway inhibition.





Figure 3.8 Gemcitabine and cisplatin was used to determine the effect of RNF43 to the chemotherapeutic drug response of KKU-213B. Gemcitabine was used to treat the cell for 48 h while cisplatin was used to treated for 24 h. There were no significant differences for both treatments. The bars represent mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments.



Figure 3.9 RNF43 overexpression increased 5-FU drug responses of KKU-213B. Cell viability was measured after 5-FU treatment with various gradient concentrations $(0, 3.215, 6.25, 12.5, 25, and 50 \,\mu\text{M})$. The 5-FU drug was treated for 48 h and 72 h.

There were no significant differences for both treatments. The bars represent mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments.



Figure 3.10 Colony formation assay in KKU-213B cell line treated with 5-FU for 48 h. $2x10^3$ cell/well transfected cells were plated and incubated for 14 days at 37°C. The cell were further fixed by methanol and stained with crystal violet solution. The bar graph represents mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05.



Figure 3.11 qRT-PCR was used to determine MDR genes and anti-apoptotic gene. *ABCB1* and *ABCC1* are ABC transporter genes which regulates drug efflux mechanism, whereas *BIRC5* is an anti-apoptotic marker gene encodes survivin protein. mRNA expression level was determined using $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$. Bar graph represents mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05, ***P*<0.01.





Figure 3. 12 (A)Various apoptotic markers were detected by the western blot analysis. (B) Bcl2/BAX ratio was calculated to determine cell susceptibility to apoptotic. The lower level of this ratio indicates higher apoptotic activity.

3.5 *RNF43* overexpression delays CCA cell migration

Wnt/ β -catenin signaling activation also contributes to the progression of tumor growth and metastasis, which is initiated by local tumor migration (Uthaisar et al., 2016; Fares et al., 2020). In this study, we hypothesized the inactivation of Wnt/ β catenin signaling by *RNF43* overexpression would inhibit cell migration and subsequently hamper tumor progression in CCA cell lines. In order to test this hypothesis, we observed CCA cell motility by performing wound healing and transwell cell migration assays. The wound healing assay was used to observe the wound closure of cell monolayer on the surface of the culture plate. The result demonstrated that overexpression of *RNF43* in KKU-213B cell line delayed wound closure over time. As shown in Figure 3.13, the percentage of wound closure, which reflects migration rate, was observed to be higher in the control compared to the cell with *RNF43* overexpression (90.8% vs 48.1% at 16 h (***P*<0.001); 98.3% vs 69.5% at 20 h (***P*<0.001); and 99.6% vs 85.3% at 24 h, respectively).

The transwell cell migration assay was performed to measure the capacity of cell motility towards a chemo-attractant gradient. We use a complete media contained FBS as the chemo-attractant and incubate for 16 h and 24 h. Based on our observation, cells with *RNF43* overexpression less migrated compared to the control in both 16 and 24 h incubation condition. The measurement of the OD value also shown there was a substantial cell migration (P<0.05) in the control compared to the cell with *RNF43* overexpression (Figure 3.14).

Likewise, mRNA expression level of the various genes which contribute to the uncontrolled cell migration were downregulated in the cell with RNF43 overexpression, including *MMP-2*, *MMP-7*, *MMP-9* and *CDH-2*. On the other hand,

an epithelial marker gene, *CDH-1*, which maintains cell-cell adhesion, was increased (Figure 3.17). These observations not only support a relevant cooperative function of RNF43 in inhibiting Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, but also underline the importance of RNF43 in restraining the progression of CCA tumor by prevent initiation of metastasis.







Figure 3.13 Wound closure was substantially observed to be slower in *RNF43*-overexpressing cell compared to the control (A) Representative figure of wound healing assay over time. The wound was measured at 0, 16, 20 and 24 hours followed by analysis by ImageJ (B) Statistical calculation of wound healing assay. The wound closure area was measured by ImageJ by compare % area. Values are expressed as means \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) of three independent experiments. ****P*<0.001.



Figure 3.14 Transwell cell migration assay depicts the correlation of RNF43 overexpression and inhibition of cell migration towards chemoattractant. (A) SRB staining of migrated cell (x10 magnification) after RNF43 overexpression and incubation at16 h and 24 h. (B) OD measurement of migrated cell (A562). Values are expressed as means \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05.



Figure 3.15 qRT-PCR was used to determine various genes that are contribute to the metastatic processes including several MMPs and EMT marker genes. mRNA expression level was determine using $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$. Values are expressed as means ± standard error of the mean (SEM) of three independent experiments. **P*<0.05.



CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSSION

RNF43 is a novel gene that frequently found to be mutated in various cancers, including pancreatic distal adenocarcinoma (Jiang et al., 2013), colorectal cancer (Yang and Tang 2000), gastric cancer (Gao et al., 2017) and *Opisthorchis viverrini*-related CCA (Ong et al., 2012; Talabnin et al., 2016). The inactivating mutation of RNF43 accounted for 9.3%, suggesting that potentially contributes to the development of CCA. Although the mechanism remains unclear, *RNF43* loss-of-function mutation was associated with poor prognosis of the CCA patients (Ong et al., 2012). In this study, low expression of RNF43 was observed in all of the CCA cell lines used. This result was consistent with previous study that found a remarkably low mRNA and protein expression level of RNF43 in CCA tissue (Talabnin et al., 2016). In light of this study, downregulation of RNF43 was highly correlated with the short survival of CCA patients (Talabnin et al., 2016). Given that inactivating mutation and altered gene expression of RNF43 have been reported in CCA and are associated with poor prognosis, understanding the functional significance of RNF43 in CCA is crucial and important for the development of effective cancer therapies.

The involvement of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway has been reported in the progression of CCA, in which the vast majority of Wnt-associated genes are mutated or upregulated (Boulter et al., 2015; Zheng et al., 2018). Interestingly, Wnt/ β catenin signaling is tightly controlled by a ubiquitin ligase, RNF43 (Loregger et al., 2015; Ryland et al., 2013; Tsukiyama et al., 2015). There are various possible Wnt/ β -catenin signaling inactivation mechanisms by RNF43. At the membrane level, interaction of RNF43 with the Fzd receptor eventually stabilizes the destruction complex and prevents β -catenin translocation into the nucleus (Serra and Chetty, 2018; Zebisch and Jones, 2015). Subsequently, at the nucleus, interaction of β -catenin with TCF4 transcription factor initiates the transcription of Wnt/ β -catenin target genes. However, in the presence of RNF43, TCF4 is sequestered into the nuclear membrane, which prevents interaction between TCF4 and β -catenin and suppress the transcription of Wnt target genes (Loregger et al., 2015). In accordance with previous findings, we observed overexpression of RNF43 in KKU-213B resulted in β -catenin protein accumulated in the cytoplasm, whilst lower amount of β -catenin was found in nuclear fraction. Additionally, at the nuclear fraction, we also found that overexpression of RNF43 suppressed TCF4 in the nucleus. This finding supports the idea that a sufficient amount of RNF43 blocks β -catenin translocation from cytoplasm into the nuclear fraction, as well as decreases TCF4 expression at the nucleus, and ultimately inhibit Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway.

In support of the idea that RNF43 suppresses Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway, downregulation of known Wnt/β-catenin target genes, such *BIRC5*, *CCND1*, *c-MYC*, *MMP-7*, and *ABCB1*, was shown following RNF43 overexpression. However, it is noteworthy to mention that some of those genes are not specifically regulated by Wnt signaling only. There are various other signaling pathways which may contribute to the activation of these genes, such as the MEK/REK pathway, which regulates *CCND1* (Modi et al., 2012) and *c-MYC* (Marampon, Ciccarelli, and Zani, 2006), or the Notch signaling pathway, which regulates *MMP-7* (Sawey and Crawford, 2008). Therefore, in order to clarify whether RNF43 specifically inhibits the Wnt signaling cascade, we further confirmed by measuring the mRNA expression level of the essential Wnt/ β catenin signaling target gene *AXIN2*. Here, we found that *AXIN2* was significantly downregulated following RNF43 overexpression. Thus, this finding further corroborates the idea of the involvement of RNF43 in specific inhibition of Wnt/ β catenin signaling.

Notably, downstream molecular marker genes which mediate the progression of cell growth and proliferation, such as *CCND1* (Wang et al., 2012; Fusté et al., 2016) and *c-MYC* (Melnik et al., 2019) were found to be downregulated following RNF43 overexpression. This finding supports cell proliferation analysis, in which a significant decreased of cell viability at 48 and 72 h was detected in RNF43-overexpressing KKU-213B compared to the control. These findings implicate an indispensable requirement of RNF43 to inhibit the activity of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway, which is followed by inhibition of cell growth.

Unresectable CCA due to late diagnosis has made chemotherapeutic regiments as the best option to treat the patients. However, poor response to available chemotherapeutic drugs in advanced CCA patients remains a challenge (Marin et al., 2018). A synergistic powerful chemotherapeutic resistance mechanism is reported in CCA and characterized by multi drug resistance (MDR) phenotype (Marin et al., 2018; Shen et al., 2013). Some of the genes involved in the MDR phenotype are known to be regulated under the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway (Marin et al., 2018). Here we evaluated the role of RNF43 in mediating chemotherapeutic drug susceptibility. The result showed that RNF43-overexpressing cells were likely to be more prone to the treatment of 5-FU marked by lower percent cell viability and colony formation when compared to the control. Furthermore, two MDR-related genes which mediate chemoresistance (*ABCB1* and *ABCC1*) and an anti-apoptotic gene (*BIRC5*) were downregulated upon RNF43 overexpression. As inhibitor of apoptotic (IAP) gene family *BIRC5*, is one of the genes which is activated under the WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway (Zhang et al., 2013). In the present study, downregulation of *BIRC5* provides a possible mechanism for how cell survival inactivation is regulated by RNF43 via WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway inhibition. Recently, involvement of RNF43 in mediating inhibition of chemotherapeutic resistance via DNA damage repair (DDR) mechanisms has been documented in gastric cancer, in which RNF43 ubiquitinates various DDR key players that eventually increase drug response (Neumeyer et al., 2021). Accordingly, the role of RNF43 in chemotherapeutic resistance via DNA damage repair in CCA is required in further study.

CCA is commonly known as high invasive tumor (Banales et al., 2020). The Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway is reported to be one of the mechanisms underlying the aggressiveness CCA progression (Boulter et al., 2015; Noll et al., 2016). Local tumor migration is an initial step of metastasis commonly observed in tumor growth (Uthaisar et al., 2016; Fares et al., 2020). Downregulation of RNF43 in colorectal cancer increased cell migration and invasion, (Wang et al., 2016). Likewise, our cell migration analysis results suggested that RNF43 inhibits the migration of the CCA cell line via inactivation of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway. This discovery was further supported by RNF43 overexpression, which downregulated Wnt/ β -catenin target gene, *MMP-7*, genes encode extra cellular matrix for angiogenesis and metastasis *MMP-2* and *MMP-9*, and mesenchymal marker gene *CDH-2*. Whereas an epithelial marker gene *CDH-1* was increased. Thus, the sufficient expression of RNF43 hinders CCA metastasis.

In conclusion, our study has elucidated the functional role of RNF43 in mediating the inhibition of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway. The unique properties of RNF43 block β -catenin translocation and subsequentially followed by downregulation of Wnt/ β -catenin target genes that are involved in the progression of CCA. Sufficient expression of RNF43 is essential to prevent further aberrant activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, which contribute to the aggressive CCA phenotypes. This discovery underscores the functional role of RNF43 as a Wnt/ β -catenin signaling inhibitor (Figure 4.1)



Graphical summary



Figure 4.1 Graphical summary Wnt/β -catenin signaling inhibiton by RNF43 modulates various genotype and phenotype changes, including downregulation of Wnnt target genes and functional alteration which involved in the inhibition of cancer progression.

REFERENCES

- Al-Bahrani, Redha, Yasser Abuetabh, Nikolas Zeitouni, and Consolato Sergi. (2013).
 Cholangiocarcinoma: Risk Factors, Environmental Influences and Oncogenesis.
 Annals of Clinical and Laboratory Science 43(2): 195–210.
- Anastas, J. N., T. L. Biechele, M. Robitaille, J. Muster, K. H. Allison, S. Angers, and R. T. Moon. (2012). A Protein Complex of SCRIB, NOS1AP and VANGL1 Regulates Cell Polarity and Migration, and Is Associated with Breast Cancer Progression. Oncogene 31(32): 3696–3708.
- Banales, Jesus M., Jose J. G. Marin, Angela Lamarca, Pedro M. Rodrigues, Shahid A. Khan, Lewis R. Roberts, Vincenzo Cardinale, Guido Carpino, Jesper B. Andersen, Chiara Braconi, Diego F. Calvisi, Maria J. Perugorria, Luca Fabris, Luke Boulter, Rocio I. R. Macias, Eugenio Gaudio, Domenico Alvaro, Sergio A. Gradilone, Mario Strazzabosco, Marco Marzioni, Cédric Coulouarn, Laura Fouassier, Chiara Raggi, Pietro Invernizzi, Joachim C. Mertens, Anja Moncsek, Sumera Rizvi, Julie Heimbach, Bas Groot Koerkamp, Jordi Bruix, Alejandro Forner, John Bridgewater, Juan W. Valle, and Gregory J. Gores. (2020). Cholangiocarcinoma 2020: The next Horizon in Mechanisms and Management. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology 17(9): 557–88.
- Barker, Nick, Rachel A. Ridgway, Johan H. Van Es, Marc Van De Wetering, Harry Begthel, Maaike Van Den Born, Esther Danenberg, Alan R. Clarke, Owen J. Sansom, and Hans Clevers. (2009). Crypt Stem Cells as the Cells-of-Origin of Intestinal Cancer. Nature 457(7229): 608–11.

- Beghini, Alessandro, Francesca Corlazzoli, Luca Del Giacco, Matteo Re, Francesca Lazzaroni, Matteo Brioschi, Giorgio Valentini, Fulvia Ferrazzi, Anna Ghilardi, Marco Righi, Mauro Turrini, Marco Mignardi, Clara Cesana, Vincenzo Bronte, Mats Nilsson, Enrica Morra, and Roberto Cairoli. (2012). Regeneration-Associated WNT Signaling Is Activated in Long-Term Reconstituting AC133bright Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells. Neoplasia (United States) 14(12): 1236–48.
- Bergquist, Annika and Erik Von Seth. (2015). Epidemiology of Cholangiocarcinoma. Best Practice and Research: Clinical Gastroenterology 29(2): 221–32.
- Bertuccio, Paola, Matteo Malvezzi, Greta Carioli, Dana Hashim, Paolo Boffetta, Hashem B. El-Serag, Carlo La Vecchia, and Eva Negri. (2019). Global Trends in Mortality from Intrahepatic and Extrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma. Journal of Hepatology 71(1): 104–14.
- Bhamarapravati, Natth and Suvajra Vajrasthira. (1978). Effects of Dimethylnitrosamine on Induction of Cholangiocarcinoma in Opisthorchis Viverrini-Infected Syrian Golden Hamsters. Cancer Research 38(12): 4634–39.
- Boulter, Luke, Rachel V. Guest, Timothy J. Kendall, David H. Wilson, Davina Wojtacha, Andrew J. Robson, Rachel A. Ridgway, Kay Samuel, Nico Van Rooijen, Simon T. Barry, Stephen J. Wigmore, Owen J. Sansom, and Stuart J. Forbes. (2015). WNT Signaling Drives Cholangiocarcinoma Growth and Can Be Pharmacologically Inhibited. Journal of Clinical Investigation 125(3): 1269–85.
- Buechling, Tina, Varun Chaudhary, Kerstin Spirohn, Matthias Weiss, and Michael
 Boutros. (2011). P24 Proteins Are Required for Secretion of Wnt Ligands. EMBO
 Reports 12(12): 1265–72.

- Chan-On, Waraporn, Maarja Liisa Nairismägi, Choon Kiat Ong, Weng Khong Lim, Simona Dima, Chawalit Pairojkul, Kiat Hon Lim, John R. McPherson, Ioana Cutcutache, Hong Lee Heng, London Ooi, Alexander Chung, Pierce Chow, Peng Chung Cheow, Ser Yee Lee, Su Pin Choo, Iain Bee Huat Tan, Dan Duda, Anca Nastase, Swe Swe Myint, Bernice Huimin Wong, Anna Gan, Vikneswari Rajasegaran, Cedric Chuan Young Ng, Sanjanaa Nagarajan, Apinya Jusakul, Shenli Zhang, Priya Vohra, Willie Yu, Dachuan Huang, Paiboon Sithithaworn, Puangrat Yongvanit, Sopit Wongkham, Narong Khuntikeo, Vajaraphongsa Bhudhisawasdi, Irinel Popescu, Steven G. Rozen, Patrick Tan, and Bin Tean Teh. (2013). Exome Sequencing Identifies Distinct Mutational Patterns in Liver Fluke-Related and Non-Infection-Related Bile Duct Cancers. Nature Genetics 45(12): 1474–78.
- Chong, Dawn Q. and Andrew X. Zhu. (2016). The Landscape of Targeted Therapies for Cholangiocarcinoma: Current Status and Emerging Targets. **Oncotarget** 7(29): 46750–67.
- Corda, G. and A. Sala. (2017). Non-Canonical WNT/PCP Signalling in Cancer: Fzd6 Takes Centre Stage. **Oncogenesis** 6(7): e364.
- Duchartre, Yann, Yong Mi Kim, and Michael Kahn. (2016). The Wnt Signaling Pathway in Cancer. **Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology** 99(2016): 141– 49.
- Fares, Jawad, Mohamad Y. Fares, Hussein H. Khachfe, Hamza A. Salhab, and YoussefFares. (2020). Molecular Principles of Metastasis: A Hallmark of CancerRevisited. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy 5(1).

Fusté, Noel P., Rita Fernández-Hernández, Tània Cemeli, Cristina Mirantes, Neus

Pedraza, Marta Rafel, Jordi Torres-Rosell, Neus Colomina, Francisco Ferrezuelo, Xavier Dolcet, and Eloi Garí. (2016). Cytoplasmic Cyclin D1 Regulates Cell Invasion and Metastasis through the Phosphorylation of Paxillin. **Nature Communications** 7(1): 11581.

- Gao, Yunhe, Aizhen Cai, Hongqing Xi, Jiyang Li, Wei Xu, Yanmei Zhang, Kecheng Zhang, Jianxin Cui, Xiaosong Wu, Bo Wei, and Lin Chen. (2017). Ring Finger Protein 43 Associates with Gastric Cancer Progression and Attenuates the Stemness of Gastric Cancer Stem-like Cells via the Wnt-β/Catenin Signaling Pathway. Stem Cell Research and Therapy 8(1):1–11.
- Giannakis, Marios, Eran Hodis, Xinmeng Jasmine Mu, Mai Yamauchi, Joseph Rosenbluh, Kristian Cibulskis, Gordon Saksena, Michael S. Lawrence, Zhi Rong Qian, Reiko Nishihara, Eliezer M. Van Allen, William C. Hahn, Stacey B. Gabriel, Eric S. Lander, Gad Getz, Shuji Ogino, Charles S. Fuchs, and Levi A. Garraway. (2014). RNF43 Is Frequently Mutated in Colorectal and Endometrial Cancers. Nature Genetics 46(12): 1264–66.
- Hanahan, Douglas and Robert A. Weinberg. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The next Generation. Cell 144(5): 646–74.
- Hirano, Hirofumi, Hajime Yonezawa, Shunji Yunoue, Mika Habu, Hiroyuki Uchida, Takako Yoshioka, Shosei Kishida, Michiko Kishida, Tatsuki Oyoshi, Shingo Fujio, Sei Sugata, Hitoshi Yamahata, Ryousuke Hanaya, and Kazunori Arita. (2014). Immunoreactivity of Wnt5a, Fzd2, Fzd6, and Ryk in Glioblastoma: Evaluative Methodology for DAB Chromogenic Immunostaining. Brain Tumor Pathology 31(2): 85–93.

Jiang, Xiaomo, Huai Xiang Hao, Joseph D. Growney, Steve Woolfenden, Cindy

Bottiglio, Nicholas Ng, Bo Lu, Mindy H. Hsieh, Linda Bagdasarian, Ronald Meyer, Timothy R. Smith, Monika Avello, Olga Charlat, Yang Xie, Jeffery A. Porter, Shifeng Pan, Jun Liu, Margaret E. McLaughlin, and Feng Cong. (2013). Inactivating Mutations of RNF43 Confer Wnt Dependency in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. **Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America** 110(31): 12649–54.

- Jiao, Yuchen, Raluca Yonescu, G. Johan A. Offerhaus, David S. Klimstra, Anirban Maitra, James R. Eshleman, James G. Herman, Weijie Poh, Lorraine Pelosof, Christopher L. Wolfgang, Bert Vogelstein, Kenneth W. Kinzler, Ralph H. Hruban, Nickolas Papadopoulos, and Laura D. Wood. (2014). Whole-Exome Sequencing of Pancreatic Neoplasms with Acinar Differentiation. Journal of Pathology 232(4): 428–35.
- Kendziorra, Emil, Kerstin Ahlborn, Melanie Spitzner, Margret Rave-fränk, Georg Emons, Jochen Gaedcke, Frank Kramer, Hendrik A. Wolff, Heinz Becker, Tim Beissbarth, Reinhard Ebner, B. Michael Ghadimi, Tobias Pukrop, Thomas Ried, and Marian Grade. (2011). Silencing of the Wnt Transcription Factor TCF4 Sensitizes Colorectal Cancer Cells to (Chemo-) Radiotherapy. Carcinogenesis 32(12): 1824–31.
- Khan, Shahid A., Simona Tavolari, and Giovanni Brandi. (2019). Cholangiocarcinoma: Epidemiology and Risk Factors. **Liver International** 39(S1): 19–31.
- Kirstein, Martha M. and Arndt Vogel. (2016). Epidemiology and Risk Factors of Cholangiocarcinoma. **Visceral Medicine** 32(6): 395–400.
- Komiya, Yuko and Raymond Habas. (2008). Wnt Signal Transduction Pathways. **Organogenesis** 4(2): 68–75.

- Kurayoshi, Manabu, Naohide Oue, Hideki Yamamoto, Michiko Kishida, Atsuko Inoue,
 Toshimasa Asahara, Wataru Yasui, and Akira Kikuchi. (2006). Expression of
 Wnt-5a Is Correlated with Aggressiveness of Gastric Cancer by Stimulating Cell
 Migration and Invasion. Cancer Research 66(21): 10439–48.
- Labib, Peter L., George Goodchild, and Stephen P. Pereira. (2019). Molecular Pathogenesis of Cholangiocarcinoma. **BMC Cancer** 19(1): 185.
- Loregger, Anke, Martina Grandl, Raquel Mejías-Luque, Michael Allgäuer, Kathrin Degenhart, Verena Haselmann, Christina Oikonomou, Pantelis Hatzis, Klaus Peter Janssen, Ulrich Nitsche, Dietmar Gradl, Olaf Van Den Broek, Olivier Destree, Kurt Ulm, Michael Neumaier, Behnam Kalali, Andreas Jung, Ignacio Varela, Roland M. Schmid, Roland Rad, Dirk H. Busch, and Markus Gerhard. (2015). The E3 Ligase RNF43 Inhibits Wnt Signaling Downstream of Mutated β-Catenin by Sequestering TCF4 to the Nuclear Membrane. Science Signaling 8(393): 1–13.
- MacDonald, Bryan T., Keiko Tamai, and Xi He. (2009). Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling: Components, Mechanisms, and Diseases. **Developmental Cell** 17(1): 9–26.
- Marampon, Francesco, Carmela Ciccarelli, and Bianca M. Zani. (2006). Down-Regulation of c-Myc Following MEK/ERK Inhibition Halts the Expression of Malignant Phenotype in Rhabdomyosarcoma and in Non Muscle-Derived Human Tumors. **Molecular Cancer** 5(1).
- Marin, Jose J. G., Elisa Lozano, Elisa Herraez, Maitane Asensio, Silvia Di Giacomo,
 Marta R. Romero, Oscar Briz, Maria A. Serrano, Thomas Efferth, and Rocio I. R.
 Macias. (2018). Chemoresistance and Chemosensitization in
 Cholangiocarcinoma. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Basis of
 Disease 1864(4) :1444–53.

- Martin-Orozco, Elena, Ana Sanchez-Fernandez, Irene Ortiz-Parra, and Maria Ayala-San Nicolas. (2019). WNT Signaling in Tumors: The Way to Evade Drugs and Immunity. **Frontiers in Immunology** 10(December): 1–21.
- Martinez-Becerra, P., J. Vaquero, M. R. Romero, E. Lozano, C. Anadon, R. I. R. Macias, M. A. Serrano, N. Grañé-Boladeras, L. Muñoz-Bellvis, L. Alvarez, B. Sangro, M. Pastor-Anglada, and J. J. G. Marin. (2012). No Correlation between the Expression of FXR and Genes Involved in Multidrug Resistance Phenotype of Primary Liver Tumors. Molecular Pharmaceutics 9(6) :1693–1704.
- Melnik, Svitlana, Nadine Werth, Stephane Boeuf, Eva-maria Hahn, Tobias Gotterbarm,
 Martina Anton, and Wiltrud Richter. (2019). Impact of C-MYC Expression on
 Proliferation, Differentiation, and Risk of Neoplastic Transformation of Human
 Mesenchymal Stromal Cells. Stem Cell Research & Therapy 10(1): 73.
- Mikels, A. J. and R. Nusse. (2006). Wnts as Ligands: Processing, Secretion and Reception. Oncogene 25(57): 7461–68.
- Modi, Prashant Kumar, Narayana Komaravelli, Neha Singh, and Pushkar Sharma.
 (2012). Interplay between MEK-ERK Signaling, Cyclin D1, and Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 5 Regulates Cell Cycle Reentry and Apoptosis of Neurons. edited by R. K. Assoian. Molecular Biology of the Cell 23(18) :3722–30.

Nguyen, Vu Hong Loan, Rebecca Hough, Stefanie Bernaudo, and Chun Peng. (2019).

Neumeyer, Victoria, Anna Brutau-Abia, Michael Allgäuer, Nicole Pfarr, Wilko Weichert, Christina Falkeis-Veits, Elisabeth Kremmer, Michael Vieth, Markus Gerhard, and Raquel Mejías-Luque. (2021). Loss of RNF43 Function Contributes to Gastric Carcinogenesis by Impairing DNA Damage Response. **Cmgh** 11(4): 1071–94.

Wnt/ β -Catenin Signalling in Ovarian Cancer: Insights into Its Hyperactivation and Function in Tumorigenesis. Journal of Ovarian Research 12(1): 1–17.

- Niu, Lei, Hong Zhen Qin, Hong Qing Xi, Bo Wei, Shao You Xia, and Lin Chen. (2015).
 RNF43 Inhibits Cancer Cell Proliferation and Could Be a Potential Prognostic
 Factor for Human Gastric Carcinoma. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry 36(5): 1835–46.
- Noll, Anne T. R., Thorsten Cramer, Steven W. M. Olde Damink, and Frank G. Schaap.
 (2016). Cholangiocarcinoma, Gone without the Wnt. World Journal of Hepatology 8(26): 1093–96.
- Nussinov, Ruth, Chung Jung Tsai, and Hyunbum Jang. (2017). A New View of Pathway-Driven Drug Resistance in Tumor Proliferation. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences 38(5): 427–37.
- Ong, Choon Kiat, Chutima Subimerb, Chawalit Pairojkul, Sopit Wongkham, Ioana Cutcutache, Willie Yu, John R. McPherson, George E. Allen, Cedric Chuan Young Ng, Bernice Huimin Wong, Swe Swe Myint, Vikneswari Rajasegaran, Hong Lee Heng, Anna Gan, Zhi Jiang Zang, Yingting Wu, Jeanie Wu, Ming Hui Lee, Dachuan Huang, Pauline Ong, Waraporn Chan-on, Yun Cao, Chao-Nan Qian, Kiat Hon Lim, Aikseng Ooi, Karl Dykema, Kyle Furge, Veerapol Kukongviriyapan, Banchob Sripa, Chaisiri Wongkham, Puangrat Yongvanit, P. Andrew Futreal, Vajarabhongsa Bhudhisawasdi, Steve Rozen, Patrick Tan, and Bin Tean Teh. (2012). Exome Sequencing of Liver Fluke–Associated Cholangiocarcinoma.Nature Genetics 44(6): 690–93.
- Passmore, Lori A. and David Barford. (2004). Getting into Position: The Catalytic Mechanisms of Protein of Protein Ubiquitylation. **Biochemical Journal** 379(3):

513-25.

- Patel, Sonal, Aftab Alam, Richa Pant, and Samit Chattopadhyay. (2019). Wnt Signaling and Its Significance Within the Tumor Microenvironment: Novel Therapeutic Insights. Frontiers in Immunology 10(December).
- Patel, Tushar. (2011). Cholangiocarcinoma-Controversies and Challenges. NatureReviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology 8(4): 189–200.
- Plentz, Ruben R. and Nisar P. Malek. (2015). Clinical Presentation, Risk Factors and Staging Systems of Cholangiocarcinoma. Best Practice and Research: Clinical Gastroenterology 29(2): 245–52.
- Pratap, Pushpendra, Syed Tasleem Raza, and Sanju Pratap. (2018).
 Cholangiocarcinoma: Etiology, Pathogenesis, Diagnosis, and Management. Pp. 201–13 in Bioactive Components, Diet and Medical Treatment in Cancer Prevention.
- Razumilava, Nataliya and Gregory J. Gores. (2014). Cholangiocarcinoma. **The Lancet** 383(9935): 2168–79.
- Razumilava, Nataliya and Gregory J Gores. (2014). Seminar Cholangiocarcinoma. The Lancet 383:2168–79.
- Rizvi, Sumera and Gregory J. Gores. (2013). Pathogenesis, Diagnosis, and Management of Cholangiocarcinoma. **Gastroenterology** 145(6): 1215–29.
- Ryland, Georgina L., Sally M. Hunter, Maria A. Doyle, Simone M. Rowley, Michael Christie, Prue E. Allan, David Dl Bowtell, Kylie L. Gorringe, and Ian G. Campbell. (2013). RNF43 Is a Tumour Suppressor Gene Mutated in Mucinous Tumours of the Ovary. Journal of Pathology 229(3): 469–76.

Sawey, Eric T. and Howard C. Crawford. (2008). Metalloproteinases and Cell Fate:

Notch Just ADAMs Anymore. Cell Cycle 7(5).

- Serra, Stefano and Runjan Chetty. (2018). Rnf43. Journal of Clinical Pathology 71(1): 1–6.
- Seshagiri, Somasekar, Eric W. Stawiski, Steffen Durinck, Zora Modrusan, Elaine E.
 Storm, Caitlin B. Conboy, Subhra Chaudhuri, Yinghui Guan, Vasantharajan Janakiraman, Bijay S. Jaiswal, Joseph Guillory, Connie Ha, Gerrit J. P. Dijkgraaf, Jeremy Stinson, Florian Gnad, Melanie A. Huntley, Jeremiah D. Degenhardt, Peter M. Haverty, Richard Bourgon, Weiru Wang, Hartmut Koeppen, Robert Gentleman, Timothy K. Starr, Zemin Zhang, David A. Largaespada, Thomas D.
 Wu, and Frederic J. De Sauvage. (2012). Recurrent R-Spondin Fusions in Colon Cancer. Nature 488(7413): 660–64.
- Shen, Dong Yan, Wei Zhang, Xin Zeng, and Chang Qin Liu. (2013). Inhibition of Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Downregulates P-Glycoprotein and Reverses Multi-Drug Resistance of Cholangiocarcinoma. Cancer Science 104(10): 1303–8.
- Shinada, Keisuke, Tadasuke Tsukiyama, Takuya Sho, Fumihiko Okumura, Masahiro Asaka, and Shigetsugu Hatakeyama. (2011). RNF43 Interacts with NEDL1 and Regulates P53-Mediated Transcription. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 404(1): 143–47.

Smout, Michael J., Banchob Sripa, Thewarach Laha, Jason Mulvenna, Robin B. Gasser,

<sup>Simile, Maria Maddalena, Paola Bagella, Gianpaolo Vidili, Angela Spanu, Roberto Manetti, Maria Antonietta Seddaiu, Sergio Babudieri, Giordano Madeddu, Pier Andrea Serra, Matteo Altana, and Panagiotis Paliogiannis. (2019). Targeted Therapies in Cholangiocarcinoma: Emerging Evidence from Clinical Trials.
Medicina (Lithuania) 55(2).</sup>

Neil D. Young, Jeffrey M. Bethony, Paul J. Brindley, and Alex Loukas. (2011). Infection with the Carcinogenic Human Liver Fluke, Opisthorchis Viverrini. **Molecular BioSystems** 7(5): 1367–75.

- Sripa, Banchob, Sasithorn Kaewkes, Paiboon Sithithaworn, Eimorn Mairiang,
 Thewarach Laha, Michael Smout, Chawalit Pairojkul, Vajaraphongsa
 Bhudhisawasdi, Smarn Tesana, Bandit Thinkamrop, Jeffrey M. Bethony, Alex
 Loukas, and Paul J. Brindley. (2007). Liver Fluke Induces Cholangiocarcinoma.
 PLoS Medicine 4(7): 1148–55.
- Stamos, Jennifer L. and William I. Weis. (2013). The β-Catenin Destruction Complex. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 5(1): 1–16.
- Sugiura, Takeyuki, Aya Yamaguchi, and Kentaro Miyamoto. (2008). A Cancer-Associated RING Finger Protein, RNF43, Is a Ubiquitin Ligase That Interacts with a Nuclear Protein, HAP95. Experimental Cell Research 314(7): 1519–28.
- Talabnin, Chutima, Patcharee Janthavon, Sunisa Thongsom, Wipa Suginta, Krajang
 Talabnin, and Sopit Wongkham. (2016). Ring Finger Protein 43 Expression Is
 Associated with Genetic Alteration Status and Poor Prognosis among Patients with
 Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma. Human Pathology 52(2016): 47–54.
- Tsukiyama, Tadasuke, Akimasa Fukui, Sayuri Terai, Yoichiro Fujioka, Keisuke Shinada, Hidehisa Takahashi, Terry P. Yamaguchi, Yusuke Ohba, and Shigetsugu Hatakeyama. (2015). Molecular Role of RNF43 in Canonical and Noncanonical Wnt Signaling. **Molecular and Cellular Biology** 35(11): 2007–23.
- Uthaisar, Kwuntida, Kulthida Vaeteewoottacharn, Wunchana Seubwai, Chutima Talabnin, Kanlayanee Sawanyawisuth, Sumalee Obchoei, Ratthaphol Kraiklang, Seiji Okada, and Sopit Wongkham. (2016). Establishment and Characterization of

a Novel Human Cholangiocarcinoma Cell Line with High Metastatic Activity. Oncology Reports 36(3): 1435–46.

- Wang, G., Y. Fu, X. Yang, X. Luo, J. Wang, J. Gong, and J. Hu. (2016). Brg-1 Targeting of Novel MiR550a-5p/RNF43/Wnt Signaling Axis Regulates Colorectal Cancer Metastasis. Oncogene 35(5): 651–61.
- Wang, Junyu, Qi Wang, Yong Cui, Zhen Yang Liu, Wei Zhao, Chun Lin Wang, Yan Dong, Lijun Hou, Guohan Hu, Chun Luo, Juxiang Chen, and Yicheng Lu. (2012).
 Knockdown of Cyclin D1 Inhibits Proliferation, Induces Apoptosis, and Attenuates the Invasive Capacity of Human Glioblastoma Cells. Journal of Neuro-Oncology 106(3): 473–84.
- Wang, Kai, Siu Tsan Yuen, Jiangchun Xu, Siu Po Lee, Helen H. N. Yan, Stephanie T.
 Shi, Hoi Cheong Siu, Shibing Deng, Kent Man Chu, Simon Law, Kok Hoe Chan,
 Annie S. Y. Chan, Wai Yin Tsui, Siu Lun Ho, Anthony K. W. Chan, Jonathan L.
 K. Man, Valentina Foglizzo, Man Kin Ng, April S. Chan, Yick Pang Ching, Grace
 H. W. Cheng, Tao Xie, Julio Fernandez, Vivian S. W. Li, Hans Clevers, Paul A.
 Rejto, Mao Mao, and Suet Yi Leung. (2014). Whole-Genome Sequencing and
 Comprehensive Molecular Profiling Identify New Driver Mutations in Gastric
 Cancer. Nature Genetics 46(6): 573–82.
- Wu, Jian, Yuchen Jiao, Marco Dal Molin, Anirban Maitra, Roeland F. De Wilde, Laura
 D. Wood, James R. Eshleman, Michael G. Goggins, Christopher L. Wolfgang,
 Marcia I. Canto, Richard D. Schulick, Barish H. Edil, Michael A. Choti, Volkan
 Adsay, David S. Klimstra, G. Johan A. Offerhaus, Alison P. Klein, Levy
 Kopelovich, Hannah Carter, Rachel Karchin, Peter J. Allen, C. Max Schmidt,
 Yoshiki Naito, Luis A. Diaz, Kenneth W. Kinzler, Nickolas Papadopoulos, Ralph

H. Hruban, and Bert Vogelstein. (2011). Whole-Exome Sequencing of Neoplastic Cysts of the Pancreas Reveals Recurrent Mutations in Components of Ubiquitin-Dependent Pathways. **Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America** 108(52): 21188–93.

- Wu, Zhao Qiu, Xiao Yan Li, Casey Yuexian Hu, Michael Ford, Celina G. Kleer, and Stephen J. Weiss. (2012). Canonical Wnt Signaling Regulates Slug Activity and Links Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition with Epigenetic Breast Cancer 1, Early Onset (BRCA1) Repression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109(41): 16654–59.
- Xing, Chunyang, Wuhua Zhou, Songming Ding, Haiyang Xie, Wu Zhang, Zhe Yang,
 Bajin Wei, Kangjie Chen, Rong Su, Jun Cheng, Shusen Zheng, and Lin Zhou.
 (2013). Reversing Effect of Ring Finger Protein 43 Inhibition on Malignant
 Phenotypes of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Molecular Cancer
 Therapeutics 12(1): 94–103.
- Yagyu, Ryuichiro, Yoichi Furukawa, Yu Min Lin, Takashi Shimokawa, Takehira
 Yamamura, and Yusuke Nakamura. (2004). A Novel Oncoprotein RNF43
 Functions in an Autocrine Manner in Colorectal Cancer. International Journal
 of Oncology 25(5): 1343–48.
- Yang, Chun and Dalin Tang. (2000). Patient-Specific Carotid Plaque Progression Simulation. **Computer Modeling in Engineering & Sciences** 1(2): 119–31.
- Yao, Denghua, Vamsi Krishna Kunam, and Xiao Li. (2014). A Review of the Clinical Diagnosis and Therapy of Cholangiocarcinoma. Journal of International Medical Research 42(1): 3–16.

Zabron, Abigail, Robert J. Edwards, and Shahid A. Khan. (2013). The Challenge of

Cholangiocarcinoma: Dissecting the Molecular Mechanisms of an Insidious Cancer. **Disease Models and Mechanisms** 6(2): 281–92.

- Zebisch, Matthias and E. Yvonne Jones. (2015). ZNRF3/RNF43 A Direct Linkage of Extracellular Recognition and E3 Ligase Activity to Modulate Cell Surface Signalling. Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 118(3): 112–18.
- Zhan, T., N. Rindtorff, and M. Boutros. (2017). Wnt Signaling in Cancer. **Oncogene** 36(11): 1461–73.
- Zhan, Tianzuo, Giulia Ambrosi, Anna Maxi Wandmacher, Benedikt Rauscher, Johannes Betge, Niklas Rindtorff, Ragna S. Häussler, Isabel Hinsenkamp, Leonhard Bamberg, Bernd Hessling, Karin Müller-Decker, Gerrit Erdmann, Elke Burgermeister, Matthias P. Ebert, and Michael Boutros. (2019). MEK Inhibitors Activate Wnt Signalling and Induce Stem Cell Plasticity in Colorectal Cancer. Nature Communications 10(1):1–17.
- Zhang, Lin, Rong Yan, Qi Zhang, Haining Wang, Xiaokui Kang, Jia Li, Shuyuan Yang, Jianning Zhang, Zhenlin Liu, and Xinyu Yang. (2013). Survivin, a Key Component of the Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway, Contributes to Traumatic Brain Injury-Induced Adult Neurogenesis in the Mouse Dentate Gyrus.
 International Journal of Molecular Medicine 32(4): 867–75.
- Zheng, Yan, Chuang Zhou, Xin-xin Yu, Chao Wu, Hu-liang Jia, Xiao-mei Gao, Jimeng Yang, and Chao-qun Wang. (2018). Osteopontin Promotes Metastasis of Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma through Recruiting MAPK1 and Mediating Ser675 Phosphorylation of β -Catenin. Cell Death and Disease.

CURRICULLUM VITAE

Name	Norma Sainstika Pangestu
Date of Birth	4 th July 1993
Place of Birth	Pemalang
Education	
2018 – Present	Master of Biochemistry and Biochemical Technology,
	Institute of Science, Suranaree University of Technology,
	Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand
2011 – 2015	Bachelor of Science, Faculty of Science and Mathematics,
	Diponegoro University, Semarang, Indonesia
Publication	

Pangestu, N.S., Chueakwon, P., Talabnin, K., Khiaowichit, J., & Talabnin, C. (2021). RNF43 overexpression attenuates the Wnt/β-catenin signalling pathway to suppress tumour progression in cholangiocarcinoma. Oncology Letters, 22, 846. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2021.13107